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FUCHS PETROLUB is a global group based in Germany which produces and
distributes lubricants and related specialties. The company was founded
in 1931, has its headquarters in Mannheim, and ranks Number One among
the world’s independent vendors. 

The group currently employs 4,220 people in more than 70 operative
companies. 

The most important regions for FUCHS in terms of sales revenues are
Western Europe, North America and Asia. 

The company’s degree of specialization and speed of innovation are far
above the average for the sector. Its product lines include several thousand
lubricants and related specialties for all applications and industries. 
We serve customers in the fields of mining, steel production, agriculture,
transport, the automotive industry, mechanical engineering, pharmaceu-
ticals and consumers, as well as specialized and non-specialized engine-oil
wholesalers and retailers. FUCHS is also Europe’s market leader for polish-
ing-technology products. 

Our ordinary and preference shares are listed for official trading at the
stock exchanges in Frankfurt and Stuttgart and at the Swiss stock exchange
in Zurich. 
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[amounts in € million] 2003 2002 Change  in % 

Sales revenues 1,040.9 1,064.7 –2.2

thereof, international 791.1 799.8 –1.1

in % 76.0 75.1

Gross profit 387.2 399.7 – 3.1

in % of sales revenues 37.2 37.5

Operating profit (EBITDA) 121.7 115.2 5.6

in % of sales revenues 11.7 10.8

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 75.1 70.0 7.3

in % of sales revenues 7.2 6.6

Net income for the year 30.9 24.1 28.2

in % of sales revenues 3.0 2.3

Shareholder's equity 137.7 110.1 25.1

in % of balance sheet total 21.7 16.2

Balance sheet total 635.9 678.4 – 6.3

Non-current assets 264.8 312.5 –15.3

Investments in tangible and intangible assets 
[excluding goodwill] 18.7 28.8 –35.1

in % of depreciation 70.4 95.3

Personnel expenses 171.9 179.8 – 4.4

Number of employees [excluding trainees] 4,220 4,081 3.4

FUCHS PETROLUB Group 

FUCHS PETROLUB AG
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Dividend/proposed dividend*) [in €] 2003 2002 Change  in % 

– per ordinary share 1.56 1.46 6.8

– per preference share 1.73 1.63 6.1

*) For better comparability, the prior year's figures have been converted to reflect the 3:1 share split of July 2003.

Key figures for FUCHS PETROLUB shares Ordinary Preference Ordinary Preference
2003 2003 2002 2002

Earnings per share [in €] 4.03 4.21 3.15 3.32

Earnings per share [in €] before scheduled
goodwill amortization 5.31 5.50 4.63 4.80



Engine and gear oils for vehicles and machinery
High-performance oils for all cars, trucks, buses, construction and agricultural machinery
and stationary units like power generating systems.

Motorcycle lubricants 

Industrial oils
For hydraulic systems, gearboxes, machine-tool slide ways, compressors, roller bearings, etc.

Refrigerator oils
A comprehensive range for all refrigerants and applications.

Antifreeze

Cutting fluids
Water-miscible cutting fluids and neat fluids for all rough and precision machining opera-
tions on all major materials used in the metalworking industry.

Metalforming lubricants
Products for pressing, extrusion, forging, for drawing wires, profiles and tubes as well as
for the hot and cold rolling of metals. 

Lubricating greases
For all applications including automotive, machine tools, steel works, cement factories,
sugar refineries, mining, the food and beverage industries, etc.

Corrosion preventives
Products and technologies for the temporary corrosion protection of metals.

Rapidly biodegradable lubricants
Advanced, innovative lubricants for engines, gearboxes, hydraulic systems and metalwork-
ing. Biodegradable greases are also available for nearly all applications. 

Industrial cleaners
For dipping or spraying applications.

Mould release agents 
For all types of on-site and pre-cast concrete shuttering work. Also for general concrete
structures, bricks, tiles and decorative work.

Quenching oils
For the heat treatment of steel, cast iron and non-ferrous metals.

Mining specialty products

Preventive maintenance

Polishing tools

Polishing pastes

Specialty lubricants, coatings and service
Concrete mould release agents, CEPLATTYN tacky lubricants, GLEITMO pastes/grease pastes
and bonded coatings/films plus metalforming lubricants and aerosols. Worldwide service for
open gears.

TITAN

SILKOLENE

RENOLIN

RENISO

FRICOFIN

ECOCUT and 
ECOCOOL

RENOFORM

RENOLIT

ANTICORIT

PLANTO

RENOCLEAN

RENOCAST

THERMISOL

CENTURY

CENT Service

LIPPERT

UNIPOL

LUBRITECH
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OUR PRODUCT RANGE IN OVERVIEW:

<<<
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Differing perspectives give you a broader view, they help you

to see things in their totality, to holistically comprehend their

complexity. In this way, viewpoints result in complete under-

standing: a reliable foundation for decisions and solutions.

We see the world from our partner’s perspective. And we

have the ability to convert the newly gained viewpoints into

meaningful action. This is because FUCHS is an independent

lubricant specialist. Our independence is the key to a high

degree of specialization and innovative power – the FUCHS

trade mark.

From the perspective of our partner, we develop the best oil,

the perfect lubricant, the ideal grease: tailored to their

specific requirements. This is why 70 % of our products are

less than five years old and most of them are individual

solutions.

The Annual Report 2003 gives you an insight into FUCHS’

high degree of specialization. Under the heading of

“Perspectives”, we put forward outstanding proposals,

viewpoints and the results of our daily work. We invite you 

to see the world from a different angle, and to get to know

FUCHS even better than before.
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Metal-cutting 

Component of a 
tractor gearbox 
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A DEEPER VIEW SHARPENS YOUR JUDGEMENT 

Machined parts can only be produced with greatest accuracy

if the metalworking fluids are correctly adapted to the pro-

duction process. Because absolute precision is essential with

metal-cutting operations. In all processes from base metal to

the finished part, instructions need to be followed in the

finest detail. In cooperation with our partners, we have

developed the optimum ECOCOOL and ECOCUT lubricants

for each individual machining process.

Materials used in metalworking technology have to fulfill

the very highest requirements. Our innovative water-miscible

cutting and grinding fluids achieve these exacting needs.

Our  product family includes an innovative product with a

neutral pH value which is especially friendly to the skin.
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OUR UNDERSTANDING IS GUIDED BY A CLEAR VIEW

The differences are in the fine details. This is especially the

case with metal-forming, where there is the widest range of

lubricants. Only when all the parameters of the process have

been identified can the right solution be found. This process

begins with the application of the lubricant but does not end

with the forming process. The tools used in the process and

all the material combinations have to be taken into consid-

eration. As well as all the other process variables such as

sheet-metal gauge, cycle times and press forces. With multi-

stage metal-forming, press forces of more than 20,000 (kN)

kilo-newtons can be generated.

Intelligent products are required, which adapt to varying

forming conditions, thus improving process security and

reducing the number of process stages. Our RENOFORM

lubricants are able to fulfill the highest forming require-

ments, and due to their chlorine-free formulation they help

to achieve savings in the following process stages and in

their ultimate disposal.
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Pressed parts for 
automobile production 
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EACH VIEWPOINT HELPS TO UNDERSTAND THE WHOLE

Whichever way you look at it: in the end, every square milli-

meter of bare metal has to be treated with reliable corrosion

protection. Numerous factors have to be taken into consider-

ation: simple integration within the manufacturing opera-

tion, compatibility with other materials in the process, easy

removal after storage or working, and high environmental

standards.

Together with our partners in the steel, automotive and

roller-bearing industries, we are developing products such 

as the ANTICORIT corrosion-protection oils. They have been

setting the standards in the European steel and automotive

industries for years now. Our special dry-film lubricants are 

a milestone in the pre-lubrication of sheet metal for auto

bodies. And our VCI technology is used to preserve goods

and materials for storage, packing and shipping by for

instance sealing steel tubing within paper or plastic sheet-

ing. In this way, even inaccessible parts of irregular shapes,

spaces, cracks or threads can be given optimum protection.
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Corrosion protection 

Storage of pipes 
and profiled tubing 
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Lubricant Greases

THE DETAILS ADD UP TO A WEALTH OF KNOWLEDGE 

Whichever way it turns: our RENOLIT lubricating greases

have to ensure low-friction movement at all times – and for

the most varied applications. Whether wheel-bearing grease

for trucks, car-seat adjusters, universal-joint grease for cars,

biodegradable greases for high-performance wind power

plants, or the modification of calcium-sulfonate complex

greases for market demands in the United States: we always

apply the best materials.

Our high quality standards are confirmed by, among other

things, the product-specific approvals granted by major auto-

mobile, roller-bearing and steel-mill manufacturers, as well 

as by European railway companies. Of course, the certifica-

tion of our production locations also plays a key role in this

context.



RENOLIT 
lubricant greases 

for roller bearings 
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Industrial oils  

Cylinder for a 
hydraulic-pump 
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Industrial oils  
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SOUND VIEWS ARE A RESULT OF TAKING A CLOSE LOOK 

RENOLIN industrial oils (e.g. hydraulic and gear oils) are

increasingly at the focus of entire production processes. The

reason for this is fairly obvious: In recent years, there have been

significant advances in the performance of hydraulics and drive

technology. Higher performance in use means higher pressures

and torques (forces) with the same oil volumes. And these pres-

sures and forces have to be withstood by high-performance

lubricants. Nowadays, only top-quality and innovative industrial

oils are able to ensure and improve the performance, economy

and lifetime of modern machinery and equipment.

FUCHS industrial oils posses superior characteristics which by

far exceed the specifications and regulations laid down by

machinery manufacturers. One example of the capabilities of

our products is the fire-resistant hydraulic fluid HYDROTHERM

46 M. We developed this fluid together with Bosch Rexroth for

a new generation of high-pressure pumps. The result: an

extended range of applications, longer lifetime and lower oper-

ating and maintenance costs.
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FARSIGHTEDNESS IS A QUESTION OF ATTITUDE 

We are looking at things from all sides. We ensure that the

highest standards are maintained in the automotive industry

together with internationally leading original equipment

manufacturers (OEMs). For example, the so-called lifetime

lubricant for gearboxes has become quite common nowa-

days. No matter whether for construction equipment, trac-

tors, vans, trucks or cars: TITAN by FUCHS is always the right

solution.

Innovations always arise in collaboration with our partners.

This applies to the development of innovative low-emission

engine oils, among other things. These oils require a com-

pletely new additive chemistry, and have become necessary

due to the increasing use of exhaust after-treatment systems

designed to fulfill the future emission levels Euro IV and V.
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Automotive 

TITAN automotive lubricants 
for all applications 
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LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS 

In challenging economic conditions – a worldwide fall in demand for lubricants, a ten-
year peak for oil prices and an average decline of the dollar by 20 % compared with 2002

– FUCHS is able to report very positive business developments. 

Our strategic concept combining growth with focus and specialization has paid off.
Through our strategies of innovation and specialization, we supply a high-value and
balanced product mix in mature markets offering solutions to our customers’ specific
needs. Furthermore, because of early entry, we also participate in the growth of new
markets. 

Once again, we achieved the best earnings in the history of the company. In the 2003

financial year, we increased our net profit by 28 % over the prior year to €30.9 million.
Overall, our companies demonstrated that they are able to deliver an impressive per-
formance under difficult circumstances. 

Although in absolute terms sales revenues decreased by 2.2 % to €1,041 million, we
achieved internal growth in sales revenues of 3.8 %, which was in line with our expecta-
tions. Negative effects of currency translation and of acquisitions and disposals offset
that growth.

We boosted our return on capital employed (ROCE) to 17.4 % last year, thus creating
substantial shareholder value. 

The development of our free cash flow is once again very positive. After deducting the
funds used for investing activities, it reached a level of €77.6 million – a new record for
FUCHS. A sustained positive free cash flow opens up the entrepreneurial scope essential
to provide a vital competitive advantage in these uncertain times. 

After years of high investment, our tangible and intangible asset investments decreased
to €18.7 million in 2003. This is a reflection of the successful measures aimed at achieving
rationalization and leaner management within the Group. Such measures are necessary
at regular intervals to ensure the company remains prepared for future market conditions
and to promote our competitiveness and profitability. 

We have reduced our debts and improved our balance-sheet structure significantly. This
was partially due to the capital increase of nearly 10 % which we carried out in December
to finance our acquisition. The ratio of net financial liabilities to shareholders’ equity was
around 1.5 at the end of the year, so we actually achieved our target for 2005 well ahead
of schedule. 

Our worldwide workforce expanded last year to 4,220 employees, primarily due to con-
solidation effects. 
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FUCHS PETROLUB AG posted a net profit after minority interests of €28.5 million for 2003.
A proposal will be made to the shareholders that dividends of €1.56 per ordinary share
and €1.73 per preference share are distributed, representing increases of €0.10 for each
type of share. 

The current financial year started well. Internally, the Group increased its first-quarter
revenues by 5.5 %. Due to currency-translation effects, however, absolute revenues
increased by just 1.3 %. We acquired the industrial business of WYNN’S France. The acqui-
sition took place on February 1, 2004 and led to a significant strengthening of our indus-
trial specialty lubricants in France, and further extended our position as market leader in
the field of metalworking fluids. 

For full-year 2004, we anticipate more favorable conditions than in the previous years.
For this reason, we see a good chance of a repeated increase in earnings. As a result of
our reduced Group debts, our financial result will be significantly better than in prior
years. Net profit could even rise at a double-digit rate. Revenues measured in euros may
well remain affected by hard-to-assess exchange-rate developments. The budgeted values
for capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment are above the levels of 2003. 

All of our efforts are directed towards a further increase of shareholder value. 

The stock exchange rewarded the positive developments in the year 2003 with an increas-
ing share price. The FUCHS ordinary shares doubled in value and the price of the FUCHS

preference shares rose by more than 80 %. Our share price increases have also continued
this year. 

I would like to thank you, the shareholders of FUCHS PETROLUB, for your trust, and all of
our employees for their commitment. I hereby express my particular gratitude to my
father, former Executive Board Chairman Dr. Manfred Fuchs, for the sound state in which
he handed over the company, providing solid foundations for future profitable growth.

Mannheim, April 2004 

Stefan Fuchs
Chairman of the Executive Board 
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The year 2003 was extremely successful for FUCHS PETROLUB, with the best net profit so
far in the company’s history. At the same time, it was characterized by preparations for
the changes in various positions of the Executive Board that took effect as of January 1,
2004, as well as by a change of generation. This change in the company was well pre-
pared and did not lead to any uncertainty in the financial markets. The appointment of
Mr. Stefan Fuchs as the new Chairman of the Executive Board did not alter any of the
fundamental strategy of independence and increasing value by means of specialization
and global presence that was so persistently and successfully developed by Dr. Manfred
Fuchs. We are convinced that this strategy will be steadily continued under the new
Chairman of the Executive Board. I thank Dr. Manfred Fuchs on behalf of the Supervisory
Board for his lasting entrepreneurial success, which has found unreserved recognition
from all sides. 

Meetings 

In 2003, the Supervisory Board monitored the work of the Executive Board in detail with
the aid of written and oral reports, and gave regular advisory support. Five scheduled
meetings took place in which the company’s strategic development and its business seg-
ments were discussed, as well as numerous issues of topical relevance. 

In addition to the meetings of the Supervisory Board, there were also numerous working
discussions between the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board, 
in particular with the Chairman of the Executive Board, in order to guarantee an effective
flow of information and exchange of opinions between the Supervisory Board and the
Executive Board. 

Important issues 

The Supervisory Board was provided with detailed information on business developments
and the profitability and situation of the company. Some of the major reporting areas
were the company’s acquisition policy, budget monitoring, capital-investment planning
and corporate planning. All significant acquisition, cooperation and divestment projects
and the Group’s risk management were discussed in detail, whereby in the year 2003, 
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the measures taken to reduce debt while strengthening the balance-sheet structure were
given particular priority. The successful capital measures carried out in December 2003 were
important steps which were also significant for the operative area and made a strategi-
cally important acquisition possible in France. In this way, the business of the successful
FUCHS EUROPE was additionally strengthened. The Supervisory Board followed the posi-
tive development of the Group’s activities in Asia with great interest. With the conclusion
of a promising cooperative venture in Japan, the Group’s management underlined its
intention to further expand the company’s position in the entire Asian market. 

The corporate-governance code of FUCHS PETROLUB AG and the declaration of compli-
ance that is included in the 2003 Annual Report were discussed by the Executive Board
and the Supervisory Board and subsequently approved by the Supervisory Board. 

With the aid of comprehensive written and oral reports, the Supervisory Board was able
to determine that the Executive Board properly conducted the company’s business and
took the required measures in good time. 

Restructuring of Executive Board and top management 

The Human Resources Committee of the Supervisory Board was intensively occupied with
planning the succession and new structure of the Group’s management and Executive
Board, which took effect on January 1, 2004 after the departure of the former Chairman
of the Executive Board, Dr. Manfred Fuchs. In several special meetings, the personnel and
organizational aspects were discussed in detail and an overall concept was developed
which was approved by the Supervisory Board and presented to the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting on June 5, 2003. The Supervisory Board thus succeeded in smoothly executing
the changes in the Executive Board and the top management including the change of
generation. For the Supervisory Board, this is the crucial basis for the company’s ongoing
successful development. 
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Company and consolidated financial statements 

Following the appointment of KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, a company of auditors, by the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting on June 5, 2003, the Supervisory Board commissioned this company to carry out
the independent audit and determined the key areas of the audit. The external auditors
submitted a declaration of independence to the Supervisory Board. 

The company financial statements of FUCHS PETROLUB AG, the company management
report, the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report were
audited by KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftprüfungs-
gesellschaft, as authorized by the Supervisory Board, and were certified without any
reservations. The Supervisory Board conducted its own thorough examination of the
company and Group financial statements, the company and the Group management
report and the proposal on the appropriation of profits. The external auditors partici-
pated in these consultations. The Supervisory Board took note of and approved the
auditors’ final report and expressed no reservations. The Supervisory Board also approved
the financial statements, which are thus adopted, and consents to the proposal on the
appropriation of profits. 

The Executive Board prepared a related-company report pursuant to Section 312 of the
German Stock Corporation Law and submitted this report to the Supervisory Board. The
external auditors examined this report, reported in writing on the results of this exami-
nation and issued the following audit opinion: 

“We have audited in accordance with our professional duties and confirm that 
1. the actual statements made in the report are correct and 
2. in connection with the legal transactions listed in the report, the payments or other

contributions made by the company were not unreasonably high.”

The Supervisory Board took note of and approved the results of the audit performed by
the independent auditors. After the final results of the audit, the Supervisory Board has
no objections to the statement made by the Executive Board which appears at the end 
of the report. 



Changes in the Supervisory Board 

In the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on June 5, 2003, I was elected as a new member
of the Supervisory Board to succeed to Dr. Bernd Müller-Berghoff, the former Chairman
of the Supervisory Board who departed for reasons of old age. In a meeting which took
place immediately after that Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the Supervisory Board elected
me as its Chairman. Mr. Hans-Georg Pohl also retired from his position as Deputy Chairmen
of the Supervisory Board as of December 31, 2003. He was succeeded by the court appoint-
ment of Dr. Manfred Fuchs, formerly Chairman of the Executive Board, with effect from
January 1, 2004. I would like to take this opportunity to extend my gratitude and recog-
nition to the former members of the Supervisory Board for their many years of successful
work for the Group. 

The Supervisory Board hereby expresses its thanks and appreciation to the members of
the Executive Board, the members of the Labor Council and all of the employees of the
FUCHS PETROLUB Group for their successful work during 2003 in a very difficult economic
situation. 

Mannheim, April 2004 

On behalf of the Supervisory Board 

Dr. Jürgen Strube
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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ORGANIZATION | CORPORATE BOARDS 

Supervisory Board 

Chairman (until June 5, 2003)
Former member of the boards of ABB Asea Brown Boveri AG, Zurich,
and ABB AG, Baden 

Chairman (since June 5, 2003)
Former chairman of the executive board of BASF AG

Other directorships*):
–  Allianz Lebensversicherungs-AG

–  BASF AG (1) (since May 6, 2003) 
–  BMW AG 
–  Bertelsmann AG (2)
–  Commerzbank AG

–  Hapag Lloyd AG

–  Hochtief AG (until June 4, 2003) 
–  Linde AG

Deputy Chairman (until December 31, 2003) 
Former chairman of the executive board of Deutsche Shell AG

Other directorships*):
–  AVIA Mineralöl-AG (1)
–  BDO-Deutsche Warentreuhand AG (2)

Comparable German and international supervisory functions: 
–  Deutsche AVIA Mineralöl GmbH (1)

Deputy Chairman (since January 1, 2004) 
Former Chairman of the Executive Board of FUCHS PETROLUB AG 

Other directorships*):
–  MVV Energie AG

–  Foundation of Heidelberg University Orthopedic Clinic 
–  Mannheim University Council 

Comparable German and international supervisory functions: 
–  Hilger & Kern GmbH 
–  Mannheimer Versicherung AG (until December 31, 2003) 
–  Rhein-Neckar Flugplatz GmbH (until December 31, 2003) 

Group directorships: 
–  FRAGOL SCHMIERSTOFF GMBH & CO. KG (until December 31, 2003) 
–  FUCHS CORPORATION (until December 31, 2003) 
–  ALHAMRANI-FUCHS PETROLEUM SAUDI ARABIA LTD. 

–  FUCHS OIL MIDDLE EAST LTD. 

Dr. Bernd H. Müller-Berghoff
Weinheim

Prof. Dr. Jürgen Strube 
Mannheim

Dipl.-Ing. Hans-Georg Pohl
Rosengarten

Dr. Manfred Fuchs 
Mannheim
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Industry chemical technician 
FUCHS EUROPE SCHMIERSTOFFE GMBH 

President of the German Association of the Automotive Industry (VDA) 

Other directorships*):
–  BASF Coatings AG

–  Dresdner Bank Lateinamerika AG (until March 31, 2004) 
–  Hoffmann-La Roche AG, Grenzach 
–  VOITH AG 

–  Thyssen Krupp Automotive AG

Comparable German and international supervisory functions: 
–  Delphi Corporation

Professor of Business Administration, Fiduciary Management and Tax
Law at the University of Mannheim

Other directorships*):
–  Ernst & Young, Deutsche Allgemeine Treuhand AG,

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft (1)

Comparable German and international supervisory functions: 
–  Pepperl + Fuchs GmbH (2) 
–  Dr. Haas GmbH (2) 
–  ZEW Zentrum für Europäische Wirtschaftsforschung GmbH 

Industrial clerk 
FUCHS EUROPE SCHMIERSTOFFE GMBH

(1) Chairman 

(2) Deputy Chairman 

(3) Employee representative 
*) Supervisory Board memberships pursuant to Section 100, 

Subsection 2 of the German Stock Corporation Law 

Hans-Joachim Fenzke (3)
Mannheim

Prof. Dr. Bernd Gottschalk
Esslingen

Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. mult. Otto H. Jacobs
Heddesheim

Heinz Thoma (3)
Mannheim
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Executive Board 

Chairman (until December 31, 2003)

Other directorships: 
–  MVV Energie AG 
–  Foundation of Heidelberg University Orthopedic Clinic 
–  Mannheim University Council 

Comparable German and international supervisory functions:
–  Hilger & Kern GmbH 
–  Mannheimer Versicherung AG (until December 31, 2003)

–  Rhein-Neckar Flugplatz GmbH (until December 31, 2003)

Group directorships: 
–  FRAGOL SCHMIERSTOFF GMBH + CO. KG (until December 31, 2003) 
–  FUCHS CORPORATION (until December 31, 2003) 
–  ALHAMRANI-FUCHS PETROLEUM SAUDI ARABIA LTD.

–  FUCHS OIL MIDDLE EAST LTD.

Chairman (since January 1, 2004) 

Comparable German and international supervisory functions: 
–  Baden-Württembergische Bank AG

Group directorships:
–  FRAGOL SCHMIERSTOFF GMBH + CO. KG

–  FUCHS BELGIUM N.V. (1) (until December 31, 2003) 
–  FUCHS (UK) PLC. (1)
–  FUCHS LUBRICANTS (UK) PLC. (1)
–  FUCHS LUBRICANTS CO.

–  FUCHS CORPORATION

–  FUCHS LUBRIFIANTS FRANCE S. A. (1)
–  FUCHS HELLAS S. A. (until December 31, 2003) 
–  FUCHS LUBRIFICANTI S.P.A. (until December 31, 2003) 
–  FUCHS LUBRICANTES, S. A. (1)
–  MOTOREX AG

Dr. Manfred Fuchs
Mannheim

Dipl.-Kfm. Stefan Fuchs
Hirschberg
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Deputy Chairman (since January 1, 2004) 

Comparable German and international supervisory functions: 
–  Landesbank Baden-Württemberg AG

Group directorships: 
–  FUCHS DO BRASIL S. A. (1) 
–  FUCHS LUBRIFIANTS FRANCE S. A. 

–  FUCHS LUBRICANTS (SHANGHAI) LTD. 
–  FUCHS LUBRICANTS (YINGKOU) LTD. 
–  LUBRICANTES FUCHS DE MEXICO, S.A. 

–  FUCHS CORPORATION (since January 1, 2004) 

Member (since January 1, 2004) 

Group directorships: 
–  FUCHS CORPORATION (1)
–  FUCHS LUBRICANTS CO. (1)
–  FUCHS LUBRICANTS CANADA LTD.

–  FUCHS LUBRICANTS (S.A.) (PTY.) LTD.

Member (until December 31, 2003)

Deputy Board Member (since January 1, 2004)

Group directorships: 

–  MAKOTO-FUCHS K.K. (until March 21, 2003) 

(1) Chairman 

(2) Deputy Chairman 

Dr. Alexander Selent
Limburgerhof

L. Frank Kleinman 
Chicago, USA

Dipl.-Ing. Ingo Pauler 
Wachenheim

Dr. Georg Lingg
Mannheim
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ORGANIZATION | BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES, REGIONS AND DIVISIONS

Stefan R. Fuchs, Dr. Alexander Selent, L. Frank Kleinman, Dr. Georg Lingg  
Dr. Ralph Rheinboldt, Dr. Lutz Lindemann, Alf Untersteller, Frans J. de Manielle, Klaus Hartig

Executive Board (from left to right): 
The Group’s Executive Commitee (from left to right): 

Chairman of the Executive Board
– Corporate Development
– Coordination and Public Relations
– Senior Management
– Marketing Automotive Lubricants 

Member of the Group’s Executive Committee 
– Region Germany, Scandinavia, Central and Eastern Europe 

Member of the Group’s Executive Committee 
– Region Western and Southern Europe 

Member of the Group’s Executive Committee 
– Region Turkey, Middle East, Central Asia, Indian Subcontinent, Africa 

Stefan R. Fuchs

Dr. Lutz Lindemann

Dr. Ralph Rheinboldt

Alf Untersteller
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Finance Director :
Reiner Schmidt

Deputy Chairman of the Executive Board 
– Finance and Controlling, IT, Internal Auditing, Legal, Human Resources 

Member of the Group’s Executive Committee 
– Region Southeast Asia, Australia and New Zealand 

Member of the Group’s Executive Committee 
– Region East Asia 

Finance Director

Member of the Executive Board 
– Region North and South America 
– FUCHS LUBRITECH

– CENTURY Mining Lubricants
– LIPPERT-UNIPOL

Deputy Member of the Executive Board 
– Technology and Supply Chain Management
– Marketing Industrial lubricants
– International Product Management for Industrial and Automotive

Lubricants 

Dr. Alexander Selent

Frans J. de Manielle

Klaus Hartig

Reiner Schmidt

L. Frank Kleinman

Dr. Georg Lingg



32 The year 2003
Organization

ORGANIZATION | CORPORATE BOARDS 

Advisory Board 

Chief Operating Officer, Alhamrani Group 
Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

Member of the Executive Board, BayWa AG

Munich 

Member of the Group Executive Committee of Deutsche Bank AG

Frankfurt 
(since March 1, 2003) 

Member of Regional Management South-West of the Dresdner Bank AG

Mannheim 
(until December 31, 2003) 

Former Chairman of the Executive Board of FUCHS PETROLUB AG 

Mannheim
(since January 1, 2004)

Partner at the bank, Sarasin & Cie. AG

Herrliberg, Switzerland 

Former Deputy Chairman of the Executive Board of BASF AG

Mannheim 

Siraj Alhamrani

Dr. Karl Braunhofer

Jürgen Fitschen

Michael Fritzsche 

Dr. Manfred Fuchs 

Franz K. von Meyenburg 

Dr. Hanns-Helge Stechl
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SUBSIDIARIES AND PRODUCTION LOCATIONS 

The Group is headed by the central-management controlling company, FUCHS PETROLUB,
which has direct ownership of all subsidiaries. 

On December 31, 2003, the Group comprised 73 operating companies. The consolidated
financial statements also subsume non-operating holding companies, management com-
panies and real-estate companies, thus increasing the number of consolidated companies
to 81. Of the 73 operating companies, 10 conducted their business activities in Germany,
and 63 abroad. The organizational and reporting structure is divided into the following
regions: Europe; North and South America; Asia-Pacific, Africa. 

Production locations 
outside Europe 

Production locations 
in Europe 

1) Excluding management companies, real-estate companies and dormant companies
2) Lubricant plants and polishing-technology-plants Status: December 31, 2003

Subsidiaries and 
production locations Subsidiaries1) Production locations2)

Germany 10 10

Other European countries 32 15

North America 5 8

South America 2 2

Africa 1 2

Asia-Pacific 23 16

Total 73 53
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Corporate Governance as a part of FUCHS PETROLUB’s philosophy 

FUCHS PETROLUB AG has always been committed to a responsible business policy oriented
towards value creation, and approved a corporate governance code for the first time in
the year 2002. The FUCHS Corporate Governance Code is based on the regulations for good
and responsible management and supervision of the company and its subsidiaries as set
out in applicable law and the company’s articles of incorporation, and reflects the princi-
ples of the German Corporate Governance Code in the extended version of July 2003. In
this way, FUCHS PETROLUB AG intends to adhere to recognized national and international
standards, and thus to promote the trust and confidence of its shareholders, business
associates, employees and the general public. 

The Executive Board, Supervisory Board and staff of FUCHS PETROLUB AG and its subsidiaries
are committed to the FUCHS Corporate Governance Code. The corporate-governance
principles of FUCHS PETROLUB AG are regularly examined against the background of new
statutory requirements and further developments in national and international standards
in case any changes or modifications become necessary. 

Equal and fair treatment of all shareholders 

As a stock-exchange-listed company with its headquarters in Germany, FUCHS PETROLUB

AG is subject to the provisions of German law upon which the Corporate Governance
Code is based. National and international corporate-governance standards have been
implemented at the Group for a long time now. Compliance with these standards serves
to secure confidence in the management and supervision of the company on the part 
of national and international investors, financial markets, business associates, employees
and the public. 

Of particular importance for good corporate governance are the unqualified observance
of shareholders’ interests, a clear definition and limitation of the tasks of the company’s
boards and committees, efficient cooperation between the Executive Board and the
Supervisory Board, open communication, informative and internationally harmonized
accounting, as well as up-to-date and informative reporting and overall transparency. 

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board issue an annual declaration of compliance
with the German Corporate Governance Code. In line with the comply-or-explain principle,
this declaration also gives details of any deviations from the Code’s recommendations.
The declaration is published both in the Annual Report and on the Internet. 

FUCHS PETROLUB AG regards an adequate system of corporate governance as a precondi-
tion for continued success in German and international capital markets, and for the com-
pany’s future share price. 

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board are committed to a system of value-based
management and monitoring of the company which increases shareholder value over
the long term, thus emphasizing accountability to the shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
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Declaration of compliance 

FUCHS PETROLUB AG complied with the regulations of the “German Government
Commission on the Corporate Governance Code“ in the version applicable until July 4,
2003 – with the deviations disclosed in the declaration of compliance of December 15,
2002. We will also comply with the currently valid Code version of July 4, 2003 with the
following exceptions: 

■ Section 3.8

No suitable deductible is agreed upon in connection with the D&O (directors’ and officers’
liability insurance) policy for the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of FUCHS

PETROLUB AG. The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of FUCHS PETROLUB AG

are fully convinced of the motivation and responsibility with which they carry out their
duties, and do not believe that this needs to be made even clearer by means of a
deductible. 

■ Section 4.2.4

FUCHS PETROLUB AG reports the compensation of the members of the Executive Board in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, subdivided according to fixed and
performance-related components. No individualized details of compensation are given, as
the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of FUCHS PETROLUB AG are convinced that
the value of such information for the shareholders bears no relation to the infringement
of the Executive Board members’ personal rights and privacy that would be caused by
stating such details. 

■ Section 5.3.2

The Supervisory Board of FUCHS PETROLUB AG is relatively small; it consists of six members.
For this reason, no separate audit committee is necessary. The entire Supervisory Board
of FUCHS PETROLUB AG deals intensively with questions of accounting and risk manage-
ment, the necessary independence of the external auditors, the appointment of external
auditors to carry out the statutory audit, the determination of the main areas of the
audit and the audit fee. Furthermore, the external auditors also attend the meeting of
the Supervisory Board at which the financial statements are dealt with. 

■ Section 5.4.5

FUCHS PETROLUB AG reports the compensation of the members of the Supervisory Board
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, subdivided according to fixed and
performance-related components. No individualized details of compensation are given,
as the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of FUCHS PETROLUB AG are convinced
that the value of such information for the shareholders bears no relation to the infringe-
ment of the Supervisory Board members’ personal rights and privacy that would be
caused by stating such details. 
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■ Section 7.1.2

FUCHS PETROLUB AG makes its interim reports publicly accessible within 45 days of the end
of the reporting period. Compliance with the recommendation of the German Corporate
Governance Code that year-end consolidated financial statements should be publicly
accessible within 90 days of the balance-sheet date will probably be achieved by FUCHS

PETROLUB AG starting with the consolidated financial statements for the year 2004. 

■ Section 7.1.4 

FUCHS PETROLUB AG publishes a list of its major subsidiaries. This list shows the names
and headquarters of the companies, the amount of each company’s equity and our share
in its equity. No details are given of the subsidiaries’ earnings for the previous financial
year for reasons of competition. However, the companies’ annual financial statements
are filed with the Company Register and are laid out for inspection at the annual share-
holders’ meetings. Moreover, on request, details of individual companies’ earnings may
be stated at the annual shareholders’ meetings. 

Mannheim, December 12, 2003

Dr. Jürgen Strube Dr. Manfred Fuchs

Chairman of the Supervisory Board Chairman of the Executive Board 

FUCHS PETROLUB AG FUCHS PETROLUB AG1)

1) At the time of signing 
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FUCHS SHARES 

Boosted by the good quarterly results of the year 2003, the announced dividend increase
for the year 2002, and the prospect of strong earnings for the full year, the FUCHS share
price continued to rise in 2003. The share split carried out on July 28, 2003 led to the
share price peaking for the year as well as a distinct increase in average daily trading
volumes. 

FUCHS is an outperformer once again in 2003

Both our ordinary and our preference shares had risen substantially by the end of the
year, while all of the relevant share indices showed a distinctly weaker performance.
With a continuation of favorable share-price perspectives, both types of stock still offer
an above-average dividend yield. 

The attractiveness of FUCHS shares is also reflected in the significant increase in attention
paid by analysts and their intensified research activities. In 2003, numerous renowned
investment banks included FUCHS shares, particular the preference shares, in their regular
research reporting. These banks include the Baden-Württembergische Bank, Bankhaus
Lampe, the Berenberg Bank, Crédit Agricole-Chevreux, the DZ Bank, M.M. Warburg  Co.,
Sal Oppenheim and the WestLB AG. 
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Continuation of positive share-price development 

After FUCHS share prices had already risen continuously in 2001 and 2002, while all of the
major share-price indices had fallen, in some cases substantially, this positive development
continued in 2003 for the third successive year – driven by our successful corporate devel-
opments. Our ordinary shares peaked for the year at €56.20 on November 26, and our pref-
erence shares at €46.50 on November 27. With a closing price of €47.80 on December 30,
2003, our ordinary shares were 104.3 % higher than a year earlier (December 30, 2002: 
€23.40). Our preference shares climbed by 86.3 % to a closing price for the year of €43.79

on December 30, 2003 (December 30, 2002: €23.50). In comparison, over the same period,
the DAX rose by only 37.1%, the MDAX by 47.8 % and the SDAX by 51.3 %. The increase
in value of FUCHS shares has continued since the beginning of this year, leading to record
prices for both our ordinary shares (€63.99 on February 10, 2004) and our preference
shares (€59.00 on February 19, 2004). 

J F M A M O
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Ordinary shares Frankfurt, Stuttgart, Zurich 

Preference shares Frankfurt, Stuttgart, Zurich 

7.29 % participation-right certificates Frankfurt

6.375 % euro bonds 2000/2005 Frankfurt, Stuttgart

FUCHS securities 

Substantially higher trading volumes 

Parallel to the share-price increases, the volumes of FUCHS shares traded at the stock
exchanges also rose sharply, nearly tripling from €44.3 million in 2002 to €126.1 million 
in 2003. Daily trading volumes also rose substantially: on a comparable basis, an average
of 4,595 ordinary shares per day were traded last year, after 2,345 in the prior year; daily
turnover of preference shares almost doubled from 5,476 to 10,330 per day. Market capi-
talization reached €359.9 million on December 30, 2003, of which €172.1 million was
accounted for by preference shares. This year, total market capitalization has risen to 
€450 million. 

FUCHS preference shares in the SDAX of the Prime Standard category 

The FUCHS shares are listed for official trading at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and the
Stuttgart Stock Exchange in Germany, as well as the Swiss Stock Exchange in Zurich. 
They are also included in the Xetra electronic trading system. At the end of 2003, the
following four securities of the FUCHS PETROLUB Group were in circulation: 

Following the resegmentation of the stock market introduced by the German Stock
Exchange at the end of 2002, our preference shares have been included in the Prime
Standard category since January 1, 2003. In this category, we continue to be one of the 
50 stocks which make up the SDAX segment. The high free float (100.0 %) of the 3,930,000

preference shares issued and relevant for the SDAX ensure we have sufficient liquidity 
in this respect. 

Great interest in employee shares 

As in prior years, once again in 2003, the employees and pensioners of the FUCHS compa-
nies in Germany were offered the opportunity to purchase employee shares in FUCHS

PETROLUB at an advantageous price. The reduced purchase price was €27.90 for a maxi-
mum of 17 (non-voting) preference shares per employee. 356 employees took advantage
of this offer. The shares were issued in December and already qualify for the 2003 dividend. 
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Net profit per share 

Of the group’s net profit for the year of €30.9 million (€24.1 million), €1.2 million 
(€1.0 million) is accounted for by minority interests. Net profit after minority interests
amounts to €29.7 million (€23.1 million), equivalent to earnings per share of €4.03

(€3.15). Earnings per share before goodwill amortization amount to €5.31 (€4.63). 

2003 2002

Ordinary Preference Ordinary Preference 

Number of shares of €9 par value 3,930,000 3,930,000 3,649,263 3,515,007

Average number of shares 3,672,658 3,549,590 3,649,263 3,515,007

Dividend  [€] 1.561) 1.731) 1.46 1.63

Dividend yield [%]2) 4.4 5.3 6.6 7. 3

Earnings per share [€]3) 4.03 4.21 3.15 3.32

Earnings per share before 
goodwill amortization [€] 5.31 5.50 4.63 4.80

Cash earnings per share [€]4) 11.02 11.02 10.64 10.64

Book value per share [€]5) 16.86 16.86 14.68 14.68

Closing price [€]6) 47.80 43.79 23.40 23.50

Highest price [€]6) 53.87 45.44 24.82 25.00

Lowest price [€]6) 23.26 23.72 20.50 20.67

Average price [€]6) 35.43 32.75 22.25 22.27

Market capitalization [€million]7) 359.9 168.0

Price-to-earnings ratio8) 8.8 7.8 7.1 6.7

1) Proposal to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 
2) Dividend for the year related to the average price for the year 
3) Net profit after minority interests related to the average weighted number of dividend-entitled shares 
4) Related to the average number of shares 
5) Shareholders’ equity related to the number of shares 
6) Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
7) Stock-exchange values at end of year 
8) Average prices related to earnings per share 

Key figures for the 
FUCHS PETROLUB shares 
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Proposal to increase the cash dividend 

A proposal will be made to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on June 9, 2004 that the
cash dividend be increased, compared with the prior year, to €1.56 per ordinary share 
(€1.46 after share split) and €1.73 per preference share (€1.63 after share split), reflecting
the good net profit, which is once again at a record level. The total dividend distribution
of €12.9 million represents a distribution ratio of 43.4 % of the Group’s net profit after
minority interests. With a continuation of favorable share-price prospects, both types of
share continue to offer attractive dividend yields. Based on the average price for 2003 for
ordinary shares of €35.43 and for preference shares of €32.75, this results in a dividend
yield of 4.4 % for the ordinary and 5.3 % for the preference shares. Under continually
favourable prospects of share price development both types of shares still offer attractive
dividend yields. 

1998

Preference shares Ordinary shares
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consideration the dividend proposal to the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting for 2003
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PETROLUB shares [%]
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Bonds and participation-right certificates 

Continuing favorable conditions on the euro capital market during 2003 resulted in rising
prices for the FUCHS PETROLUB Group’s participation-right certificates and euro bonds. 

■ 7.29% participation-right certificates 1998/2008

The FUCHS PETROLUB participation-right certificates issued at par in 1998 to be redeemed
in August 2008 in a nominal amount of €51.1 million closed the year on December 2003 at
a price of 110.0 % (105.9 %); they feature a dividend rate of 7.29 % per annum. The 52-
week high was 114.0 %, the low was 104.6 %. 

■ 6.375% euro bonds 2000/2005

The euro fixed-interest bond (6.375 %) issued in May 2000 in a nominal amount of €100.0

million (issue price of 99.63 %) is redeemable in June 2005. On December 30, 2003, it was
listed at 104.0 % (103.5 %). This was equivalent to a yield of 3.5 % at the end of the year. 

Change in ownership of voting rights 

During the period under review, Deutsche Bank AG notified us that on December 15,
2003, one of its subsidiaries, DWS Investment GmbH, of Frankfurt, had exceeded the 5 %
threshold of voting rights in FUCHS PETROLUB AG, and henceforth held 5.16 % of these
rights. 

We received no further notifications of shareholdings subject to disclosure during the
reporting period. 



OUR SHAREHOLDERS 

43The year 2003
Our shareholders 

As of January 31, 2004, our ordinary and preference shares were held by 9,230 different
shareholders in Germany and abroad. This total comprises 8,841 private investors,
176 institutional investors, 177 commercial enterprises and 36 other shareholders. Since
the previous shareholder survey in 2002, there was a particularly strong increase of
14.4 % in the number of private shareholders: from 7,726 to 8,841. 

In terms of numbers, private investors are by far the largest group 

The private investors holding FUCHS shares are dominated by salaried employees,
pensioners and other non self-employed individuals. With the pleasing growth in the
number of private shareholders, this Group is by far the most numerous among total
FUCHS shareholders. Although the proportion of the capital stock held by private share-
holders decreased from 39.1% to 37.0 %, this still represents almost double the percent-
age in 1995. 

Increased share of equity owned by institutional investors 

The number of institutional shareholders has also increased, and their proportion of the
capital stock has risen to 37.5 %, from 30.2 % in 2002. There has been a shift within this
Group, however. Whereas German investment companies and asset managers have reduced
their shareholdings in the last two years, the number of shares held by institutional
investors outside Germany has risen substantially. 

Strong increase in foreign ownership 

The importance of foreign shareholders has grown considerably for FUCHS. The number
of shares held outside Germany has increased at an above average rate since 2002, and
now accounts for 31.9 % of the total capital stock (2002: 9.1%). Switzerland still accounts
for the largest proportion of our shares held abroad: 12 % of total capital, although 
the number of FUCHS shareholders in the country actually decreased. This reduction was
nearly offset by an increase in the number of shareholders in other foreign countries.
There were particularly significant increases in Luxembourg, the United Kingdom and
the United States, where institutional investors now hold significant proportions of our
capital stock: 9.5 %, 6.1% and 2.2 % respectively. 

Shareholder survey 2004 –
breakdown of capital stock 

37.0 % Private investors

37.5 % Institutional investors

1.7 % Commercial enterprises

23.3 % Fuchs family 2)

0.6 % Others

1) January 31, 2004: 7,489,408 shares (95 % of total capital stock) 
2) Including 46.3 % of the ordinary voting shares 
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Financial communications in the past year benefited from investors' growing interest in
FUCHS shares. This was paralleled by a rise in FUCHS research. As in past years, a key focus
lay in the area of corporate advertising, with the FUCHS brand continuing to channel
support into motor racing. 

Year-on-year, communications expenditures remained almost constant. At 54 % of the
total (52 %), our highest spending was in the corporate sector, with sponsorship deals
alone accounting for 30 % (29 %) of the overall budget. 33 % (35 %) of funds went towards
investor relations and 11% (12 %) for internal communications. Remaining expenditures
accounted for 2 % (1%) of the budget. 

Significant boost in financial communications

The rise in stock-market trading volumes and share prices during 2003 – resulting in par-
ticular from the positive development in business along with the share split – attracted
heightened interest from investors and led to a significant boost in FUCHS financial market
communications. We were involved in, or staged directly, more than ten financial press
events, three roadshows (lasting a number of days) and well over fifty face-to-face meetings
with institutional investors, funds managers and financial analysts. The level of investor
relations activity, both at home and abroad, stood at an all-time high. For private investors,
over and above the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting staged in Mannheim (where we wel-
comed nearly 800 shareholders) and a strongly attended information day in Zurich, a par-
ticular highlight in the communications calendar was the first Mannheim Equity Market
Forum, organized jointly with four other Mannheim-based listed companies. The 2003

event welcomed 250 investors and provided the company with an innovative communi-
cation channel. 

COMMUNICATION AND MARKETING 
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Broader use of financial media 

In the year under review, all FUCHS shareholders were sent an abridged report along
with their invitations to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. In addition, the complete
Annual Report and all interim reports were mailed to an exhaustive address list contain-
ing some 4,000 key names worldwide. Further, direct requests led to more than 3,000

Annual Reports going to individuals throughout the whole of Western Europe. In last
year's “Best Annual Report” competition (organized by managermagazin, a German
business magazine) the FUCHS Annual Report 2002 was also highlighted as one of the
“most appealing” front pages, “best tailored to its sector”. 

The strong demand for old-version shares was partially covered after the share split carried
out in July 2003 by sending out a limited volume of cancelled shares. 

As in past years, the Internet continues to play a significant role in overall corporate
communications. In 2003, the company website was visited by 187,075 users, (compared
with 160,000 visitors in 2002). Thanks to the re-launched website with a more user-friendly
layout and easier navigation, FUCHS also performed well in SDAX sector competitions. 

Sponsorship activities raise brand awareness and boost image 

International sponsorship of MotoGP racing continues to play a major role in the FUCHS

Silkolene brand support program, further boosting its function as a flagship branding
mechanism. The FUCHS brand has been involved in this area for a number of years, giving
brand awareness a significant boost – and enabling a variety of countries to tap into syn-
ergies when planning their marketing activities.

FUCHS PETROLUB also continues to channel support into a variety of social and scientific
causes in the Rivers Rhine and Neckar region – as well as Mannheim itself – highlighting
once more the significance and attraction of this area as the seventh largest industrial
region in Germany. The state, municipal and other public bodies often praise our tradi-
tional involvement in these fields, which epitomizes the FUCHS commitment to social and
political issues. Our long-term goal in these important socio-political arenas is to present
FUCHS as a socially responsible company, so adding value to the brand.
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International marketing, focusing on regional target groups 

In the year under review, we were again involved in a variety of marketing activities as part
of the company's ongoing program to grow international automotive lubricant volumes.
Our key priority throughout lay with target groups within individual regions. Building on
the marketing investments of previous years, the company engaged in a coordinated
program of marketing and promotional activities. 

Automotive lubricants in Europe underwent further range alignments, hand-in-hand with
a packaging and design re-launch aimed at updating medium and large pack sizes and
creating a more modern, appealing look. This also enhances flexibility in production and
logistics, thus increasing our responsiveness to customer demands. 

We also invested more effort in Asia and Africa, as well as a number of new markets. In
the Middle East too, after a period of restraint following the war in Iraq, FUCHS branded
products continued to enjoy growth in trading volumes. Furthermore, a number of hitherto
less important countries made pleasing progress in 2003, gaining in overall significance. 

A uniform brand image is the key to all marketing activities. In the year under review, we
made significant progress, substantially heightening brand awareness. 

Breakdown of 
holding-company costs 
for communication and

advertising in 2003

30 % Sponsoring1)

23 % Group advertising

9 % Annual report

11 % Internal communication

3 % Internet

10 % Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

      7 % Other IR activities 2)

2 % SDAX fees

5 % Others3)

1) Motorsport, cultural, scientific and social 
2) Interim reports, financial-market events, press work,

mandatory announcements 
3) Postage, transport, translation etc.
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Environmental protection

Neither the processes used to produce lubricants, nor the production facilities involved,
present any particular risk to the environment. However, conventional mineral-oil-based
lubricants are classified as water-hazardous. For this reason, particular attention is paid
to soil and water conservation. Reducing levels of energy consumption, emissions and
waste products is an ongoing task at all FUCHS sites. 

ISO 14001 certification in Mannheim 

ISO 14001 certification was gained at the FUCHS Group's most important research and
production site in Mannheim. This involved a series of environmental measures during the
year under review, such as a new truck-loading station and the introduction of collecting
basins at several drum storage sites. Mixing vessels were also connected up directly by pipe,
cutting the wastage levels of oil used for rinsing. This was supplemented with a new
waste-treatment system. Furthermore, FUCHS EUROPE SCHMIERSTOFFE provides financial
support to an air-pollution measurement station in Mannheim. 

Sugar ester, the new, rapidly biodegradable base oil for lubricants 

FUCHS is always keen to explore new avenues for improving the properties of lubricants.
Central to this is the development of environmentally friendly products, especially with
base oils, which have to fulfill not only a variety of stringent requirements such as techni-
cal performance, but also environmental compatibility and sustainability. FUCHS is current-
ly participating in a multi-company project together with SÜDZUCKER AG, a sugar manu-
facturer based in Mannheim and Ochsenfurt, and IFAS (the Institute for Fluid Power Drives
and Control at the RWTH in Aachen). Its aim is to research what could become a highly
promising Group of substances. The research program (which is sponsored by the
German Federal Ministry for Consumer Protection, Food and Agriculture) hopes to arrive
at a new type of sugar-ester-based chemical for use as a base oil in the lubricant industry.
This would be achieved by synthetically producing high-performance saturated esters out
of fatty acids and sugar derivatives. From a technical point of view, sugar is a polyalcohol
made out of sustainable raw materials. Compared to conventional alcohols used to pro-
duce ester (derived from petrochemicals), it is available at a relatively low price. A further
benefit of these new synthetic esters is that they have a high level of oxidization stability,
but are not water-hazardous and are rapidly biodegradable. Overall, they are an ideal
blend between high technical performance and environmental protection. As a direct
result of this program, FUCHS has already registered two patents jointly with SÜDZUCKER.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
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While the size of the global lubricant market decreased by 2.3 % by the middle of 2003,
consumption generally rose in the second half so that there was a decline of just 0.8 %
to 35.4 million tons in the full year (excluding international bunkering). The development
of demand varied significantly by region: the consumption of lubricants decreased by
3 % to 5 % in Western Europe, North America and – due to the war – the Near and Middle
East, but increased by 1% to 2 % in the other regions of the world, especially in the
developing countries and emerging markets of Asia. 

Asia remains the region with the largest lubricants demand

In terms of consumption by region, Asia still leads the rankings with a share of 31.2 %,
followed by North America with 23.2 %, and Western and Eastern Europe with 13.4 % each. 

Disparate developments in the major national markets 

The development of demand also varied greatly within the six major national lubricant
markets. While consumption in the three Asian markets stagnated (in Japan) or increased
by 2 % to 3 % (in India and China), demand for lubricants decreased sharply in the United
States, although the US remained the world’s largest national market with a share of more
than 20 % of worldwide volumes, followed by China in second place (10 % of the global
lubricants demand). 

Germany relatively stable in a difficult market 

In the four major lubricant markets of Western Europe (Germany, France, the United
Kingdom and Italy), which account for about two thirds of the region’s consumption,
demand for lubricants declined by an average of 2.8 %, whereby the decline was the
strongest in France at 5.3 % and the most moderate in Germany at 0.9 %. Although
lubricant volumes decreased due to the weak domestic economy, the German industry
performed quite well in 2003 despite the tougher competition, holding its results nearly
constant due to price increases, favorable purchasing prices, increased exports and
further cost reductions.

THE LUBRICANTS MARKET

Regional breakdown 
of global lubricant demand
2003 [domestic consumption]

31.2 % Asia-Pacific

5.2 % Africa

4.9 % Near/Middle East

13.4 % Central/Eastern Europe

13.4 % Western Europe

8.7 % South America

23.2 % North America



Sales revenues in 2003 amounted to €1,040.9 million. In addition to organic growth of
3.8 %, the Group achieved external growth of 0.4 %. Currency-translation effects meant
that sales revenues were 6.4 % lower than they would have been at the prior year’s
exchange rates. Due to the substantial appreciation of the euro, the Group’s sales
revenues therefore decreased by a nominal €23.8 million, or 2.2 %, compared with the
prior year. 

The development of sales revenues by the location of the various companies of the
Group (country-of-origin principle) is attributable to the following factors: 

Positive internal growth 

The Group’s internal growth of €39.9 million, or 3.8 %, was primarily caused by the Asia-
Pacific, Africa region, where sales revenues increased by €29.8 million, or 20.2 %. Within
this region, our companies in China were particularly responsible for the strong result,
with expansion of €16.6 million. But we also increased our sales revenues by double-digit
rates in Australia and South Africa.

The Americas region also achieved respectable internal growth of €14.3 million, or 6.6 %.
All of our lubricants companies in North and South America contributed to this good
result. 

PERFORMANCE | SALES REVENUES 
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€ million %

Internal growth 39.9 3.8

External growth 4.2 0.4

Currency-translation effects – 67.9 – 6.4

Net effect on sales revenues –23.8 –2.2

Regional development 
of sales revenues 

classified by the country-
of-origin principle

[€ million]

Internal  External Currency Change Change 
2003 2002 growth growth effects absolute in %

Europe  694.4 717.2 – – 6.9 –15.9 –22.8 –3.2

North and South America 192.7 216.7 14.3 – –38.3 –24.0 –11.1

Asia-Pacific, Africa 174.8 147.8 29.8 11.1 –13.9 27.0 18.3

Consolidation –21.0 –17.0 – 4.2 – 0.2 – 4.0

Total 1,040.9 1,064.7 39.9 4.2 – 67.9 –23.8 –2.2
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In Europe, the discontinuation of some low-margin standard-product businesses had a
dampening impact on sales revenues. In addition, there had been exceptional revenues
for a limited period in the prior year after the dissolution of our former joint venture
with DEA Mineraloel AG. The loss of these sales revenues was offset by internal revenue
growth by companies in Central and Eastern Europe and Western Europe. 

Mix changes and price changes were the drivers of this internal growth in all regions.
Especially in Europe, the trend is towards a higher-value product portfolio. FUCHS was
thus able to maintain its position despite the general trend of decreasing global demand
for lubricants. 

Slight external growth 

The companies consolidated for the first time in 2003 were those in Hungary and
Bangladesh and our 50 % interest in FUCHS OIL MIDDLE EAST in the United Arab Emirates.
A base-oil trading company in England and a trading company in Germany were decon-
solidated as they were both sold in 2003. 

The Group’s external growth of €4.2 million (0.4 %) is thus the balance of the €13.4 million
sales revenues from the newly consolidated companies less the €9.2 million from the two
companies which were divested. 

Level of sales revenues distorted by strength of euro 

The euro continued appreciating in value against nearly all other currencies in 2003. Where-
as currency-translation effects in the prior year had a negative impact of €36.1 million on
sales revenues, in 2003, these effects totaled a negative €67.9 million, or minus 6.4 %. 
The biggest negative currency-translation effect of €38.3 million was in the region of
North and South America, mainly in connection with the revenues of our US companies.
The negative currency-translation effects in Europe (€15.9 million) were mainly due to
the fall against the euro of British pound and, to a lower extent, the Polish zloty. The fact
that many Asian currencies are pegged to the US dollar diminished sales revenues in the
Asia-Pacific, Africa region by €13.9 million, or 9.4 %, although the South African rand is
one of the few currencies that has gained against the euro. 

The regional development of sales revenues classified by customer’s location (country-of-
destination principle) breaks down as follows: 

Regional breakdown of
sales revenues (country-of-

destination principle) 
[€ million]

2003 2002 Change Change 
absolute in %

Europe 640.2 663.9 –23.7 –3.6

North and South America 198.4 219.8 –21.4 – 9.7

Asia-Pacific, Africa 202.3 181.0 21.3 11.8

Total 1,040.9 1.064.7 –23.8 –2.2



Development of sales revenues in Europe 

The Group’s sales revenues in Europe of €640.2 million were 3.6 % lower than in the prior
year. The decrease was caused by currency-translation effects, the discontinuation of
low-margin business and the loss of SHELL-DEA supplies. Despite a slight reduction in its
share of Group revenues, Europe remains FUCHS’ most important market, accounting for
61.5 % of total sales revenues in 2003 (62.4 %). 

Sales revenues in Germany of €249.8 million were €15.1 million, or 5.7%, below the level
of 2002, while sales revenues of €390.4 million in the rest of Europe were 2.2 % lower
than in the prior year. The focus in Europe was above all on improving the product mix
and the associated higher profitability of our business. This strategy succeeded in 2003.
The discontinuation of low-margin business in certain markets was offset by the acquisi-
tion of new business in other markets. 

Exchange-rate developments overshadow strong organic growth in North and South
America 

The fall of the US dollar meant that currency-translation effects had a substantial negative
impact on sales revenues in the region of North and South America. The region’s imports
increased and all local companies improved their revenues in national currencies, but
measured in euros, the region’s sales revenues fell by 9.7% to €198.4 million (€219.8 mil-
lion). North and South America account for 19.1% of FUCHS’ total sales revenues. 

Asia-Pacific, Africa region advances to become second-largest market 

With sales revenues of €202.3 million (€181.0 million), the region of Asia-Pacific, Africa
meanwhile accounts for 19.4 % (17.0 %) of our total revenues. Despite losses due to
currency-translation effects, the region once again achieved a double-digit growth rate 
of 11.8 %. With a slight reduction in exports by the Group’s companies in Europe, FUCHS

companies located in the Asia-Pacific, Africa region supplied a significantly larger share
of the sales into the region. 

We achieved our strongest revenue growth in China and Africa. 

Developments in 2004

We continued our successful course of business in the first two months of the year 2004.
The Group achieved internal growth of 1.4 %, although sales revenues decreased in nominal
terms due to currency-translation effects. Sales revenues expressed in euros will remain
affected by exchange-rate movements, despite the anticipated internal and external
expansion (WYNN’S acquisition). Asia remains our growth region number one. 
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Sales revenues by product segment 

Within the framework of our segment reporting, the geographical segments reflecting
the Group’s organizational structure are the primary reporting format. The secondary
reporting format is the representation of the product segments of automotive lubricants,
industrial lubricants and specialties, and other products. 

The product segment of automotive lubricants consists primarily of engine oils, transmis-
sion oils and shock-absorber oils. 

The product segment of industrial lubricants and specialties mainly comprises hydraulic
oils, metal-working fluids, corrosion preventives and greases, and other specialties. The
area of other products includes polishing technology, toll processing, chemical manage-
ment, base-oil trading and other activities. 

Contrary to this product-segment view, divisional reporting in the past has been based
on the sales areas. 

The business with industrial lubricants and specialties accounts for the largest share of
the Group’s total revenues: €586.2 million, or 56.3 % (€602.5 million; 56.6 %). Sales
decreased by 2.7 % due to currency-translation effects. Sales by volume increased, how-
ever, particularly of our specialties, and at the prior year’s exchange rates sales revenues
in 2003 are higher than in 2002. 

The sales volume of automotive lubricants also increased. But valued in euros, the same
currency-translation effect was apparent. The segment’s revenues of €328.6 million were
therefore 1.8 % lower than in the prior year (€334.6 million). The segment’s share of Group
revenues amounted to 31.6 % (31.4 %). 

Sales revenues from other products were the least affected by currency-translation.
Revenues of €126.1 million (€127.2 million) accounted for 12.1% (12.0 %) of the Group’s
total.

Breakdown of Group 
sales revenues 

56.3 % Industrial oils and specialties

31.6 % Automotive oils

12.1 % Other products

2003 Share in 2002 Share in  Change Change 
[in € million] in % in % in % absolute in %

Automotive oils*) 328.6 31.6 334.6 31.4 – 6.0 –1.8

Industrial oils and specialties*) 586.2 56.3 602.5 56.6 –16.3 –2.7

Other products 126.1 12.1 127.6 12.0 –1.5 –1.2

Total 1,040.9 100.0 1,064.7 100.0 –23.8 –2.2

*) and related products 



Record net income of the prior year (€24.1 million) was boosted by 28.2% to €30.9 million. 

The FUCHS PETROLUB Group once again achieved record earnings in 2003, although eco-
nomic conditions remained challenging. This very positive development is the result of
our strategy of selective growth, specialization and cost management. 

Above all, our good organic growth in markets outside Europe compensated to a great
extent for the substantial negative effects from currency translation. An additional factor
was that an improved product mix limited the erosion of our contribution and gross
margin caused by high base-oil prices. 

As a result, the Group increased its net income for the year by 28.2 % to €30.9 million 
(€24.1 million). This result was possible despite a decrease in our gross profit, as we
achieved cost reductions in all areas and benefited from a lower tax rate. 

High profit contributions from all regions 

Followed by the Americas, the region of Europe generated the highest contribution to
earnings in absolute terms. The increase in earnings achieved in local currencies by the
Asia-Pacific, Africa region was overshadowed by exchange-rate developments. 

Gross profit of €387.2 million was 3.1% lower than in the prior year (€399.7 million). The
decrease was mainly due to higher prices for primary materials and the currency-translation
effects of the stronger euro. 

The rationalization of sales, administration and development activities resulted not only
in an absolute reduction in the costs of these functions, but they actually fell by 4.8 %, a
significantly higher rate than for gross profit (minus 3.1%). 

Operating profit reaches new peak 

Our operating result therefore increased to the record level of €93.2 million (€90.7 million).
The operating margin reached 9.0 % after 8.5 % in 2002. 

The balance of other operating income and expenses was positive at €1.3 million (minus
€5.7 million). The sale of real estate in the United Kingdom and Spain and the sale of a
trading company in Germany largely compensated for restructuring expenses. As a result,
earnings before interest, taxes and goodwill amortization (EBITA) of €94.4 million were
at a new record level (€85.0 million). 

PERFORMANCE | EARNINGS 
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The goodwill write-down of €19.3 million (€15.0 million) includes net impairments recog-
nized for earnings risks of €10.0 million. These mainly applied to shareholdings in Saudi
Arabia and Western Europe. 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to €75.1 million, an increase of 7.3 %
compared with the prior year (€70.0 million). 

Declining net interest expense 

Interest expenses decreased due to the lower financing volume, so that the financial result
fell by €2.9 million to €23.1 million (€26.0 million). The figure includes the costs of a par-
tial conversion of fixed to variable interest rates. This expense of around €3 million will
be offset in future years by a significant reduction in interest costs, however. 

Tax rate close to target 

The Group’s tax rate of 40.6 % (45.2 %) was close to the target of 40.0 %. 

Despite the challenging economic conditions, the Group was thus able to significantly
improve on its record earnings of the prior year. 

For the year 2004, we expect the prices of input materials to remain at their present high
level, and our markets are likely to remain highly competitive. Nonetheless, we assume
that our ongoing policy of specialization, focus and strict cost discipline combined with
diminishing financing costs and a stable effective tax rate will enable us to increase our
net profit once again. 

Structure of income
statement 

54.7 % Cost of materials

 8.1 % Production expenses

19.2 % Selling expenses

6.8 % Administrative expenses

2.2 % R&D expenses

4.0 % Other expenses/income,
goodwill write-downs
and interest

2.0 % Taxes

3.0 % Net profit



Renewed improvement in returns 

Our return on sales reached 3.0 % (2.3 %). It reflects the improvement in various expense
items, which more than offset a slight decrease in our gross margin. 

Our earnings before interest, taxes and scheduled goodwill amortization related to sales
revenues rose to 8.1% (7.6 %), while the EBIT margin (earnings before interest and taxes
related to sales revenues) increased to 7.2 % (6.6 %). 

The Group’s return on equity (net income related to shareholders’ equity at the end of the
year) reached 22.4 % (21.9 %), and return on capital employed (earnings before interest,
taxes and scheduled goodwill amortization related to the total at the end of the year of
shareholders’ equity, participation certificates, interest-bearing liabilities, pension provi-
sions and accumulated goodwill write-downs less cash and cash equivalents) rose to 17.4 %
(14.9 %). 

The FUCHS VALUE ADDED (FVA) performance measure, which was introduced last year for
the purpose of value-based management, more than doubled to €21.9 million compared
with the prior year (€10.3 million). FVA is the pre-tax economic value added by the Group,
taking into consideration the weighted average cost of capital (13 % before and 7.8 %
after taxes). 
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13.7 25.4 19.9 26.8 14.22003

2002

Balance-sheet total €635.9 million

Balance-sheet total €678.4 million

Structure of assets 
and capital 

Assets [%]

Goodwill 

Property, plant and equipment 

Inventories 

Trade receivables 

Other assets 

15.6 26.7 19.6 25.0 13.1

21.7 8.0 29.6 13.5 18.2

16.2 7.5 8.3 39.4 11.7 16.9

2003

2002

Balance-sheet total €635.9 million

Balance-sheet total €678.4 million

Liabilities [%]

Shareholders’ equity 

Participation-right capital 

Pension provisions 

Financial liabilities 

Trade liabilities 

Other liabilities

9.0
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Increased equity ratio and lower financial liabilities reflect significantly stronger balance-
sheet structure. 

In the year under review, we continued our policy of an economical application of capital.
Moreover, the value of the euro continued to climb, particularly against the US dollar.
Both of these factors are reflected by a reduction in the balance-sheet total to €635.9 mil-
lion (€678.4 million). 

Fixed assets amounted to €264.8 million at the end of 2003 (€312.5 million), accounting
for 41.6 % of the balance-sheet total, which was lower than a year earlier (46.1%). The
reduction is due to the fact that capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment was
lower than depreciation. Furthermore, goodwill amortization and currency-translation
effects also had a diminishing effect. 

The increase in current assets to €363.9 million (€361.6 million) is caused by the increase 
in cash and cash equivalents to €29.4 million (€13.4 million). These liquid funds came pri-
marily from the capital increase carried out shortly before the end of the year to finance
the acquisition of WYNN’S; the price paid for WYNN’S was not transferred until January
2004. 

We reduced our inventories to €126.5 million (€132.8 million), while receivables of 
€170.2 million (€169.6 million) were still above the target level we had set. 

Distinct improvement in equity ratio 

The Group’s equity ratio was 21.7 % at the end of the year (16.2 %). The significant
improvement over the prior year’s level is a consequence of our good net profit for the
year and the capital increase we carried out in December 2003. The flow of funds from
the capital increase amounted to €25.1 million. On the other hand, due to exchange-
rate developments there was a negative effect from currency translation of €18.5 million. 

Due to its subordinate ranking, the capital accounted for by participation certificates of
€51.1 million has a special status between equity capital and financial liabilities. 

PERFORMANCE | NET ASSETS AND FINANCIAL POSITION 
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Reduction in debt reflects positive cash-flow development 

The Group significantly reduced its other financial liabilities during 2003. The very good
cash-flow development enabled the Group to reduce its level of debt by €79.1 million to
€188.2 million (€267.3 million). In addition to reducing our bank credits and note loans,
we reacquired tranches of our 2000/2005 Eurobonds in an amount of €34 million. A large
portion of the refinancing of these bonds, which were scheduled to fall due in an original
volume of €100 million in June 2005, has thus already been settled. 

Provisions for pension obligations increased only slightly to €57.0 million (€56.1 million).
The increases in other provisions to €62.0 million (€58.4 million) and in trade liabilities to
€85.7 million (€79.5 million) were to the benefit of internal financing. 

The increase in shareholders’ equity and the reduction in financial liabilities had a positive
impact on the Group’s net gearing (financial liabilities including participation certificates
capital less cash and cash equivalents in relation to equity capital). With a ratio of 1.5 (2.8),
we already achieved our target for the medium term in 2003. This ratio can be expected to
continue stabilizing in 2004 thanks to our ongoing positive cash-flow development and
restrictive employment of capital.

.
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Free cash flow increases by 62 % to €77.6 million (€48.0 million). 

The statement of cash flows has been adjusted for currency-translation and consolidation
effects in conformance with IAS 7. 

The gross cash flow rose during 2003, due in particular to the Group’s very good prof-
itability, by 4.5 % to €79.6 million (€76.2 million), thus exceeding the high level of the
prior year. The gross cash flow is an indicator of internal financing capability and is
available to the company for capital expenditure, financing net current assets, dividend
distributions, debt repayments and maintaining an appropriate level of liquidity. 

Improved cash inflow from operating activities 

The cash inflow from operating activities improved by 13.5 % from €78.5 million to 
€89.1 million. This was due not only to lower taxes and changes in provisions, but also
to our program for the reduction of net current assets, which delivered a contribution 
of around €3 million. With a constant volume of business, inventories were also main-
tained at the prior year’s level despite significant price increases in our procurement
markets. 

At €20.4 million, capital expenditure was substantially lower than in the prior year 
(€33.5 million). Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment was reduced,
particularly in Germany and other European countries, because the expansion and
restructuring of our production facilities has largely been completed. In addition, pro-
ceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment increased, especially from 
the sale of land that is no longer required for operations. The cash outflow from invest-
ing activities of €11.5 million was just below 38 % of the prior year’s level (€30.5 million). 

Renewed increase in internal financing capability 

The Group’s internal financing capability, represented by the ratio between the cash
inflow from operating activities and the cash outflow from investing activities, once
again increased during the period under review, and is now at a factor of 7.7. This ratio
clearly demonstrates the high cash flow generated by the Group. 

The free cash flow, which reached a record level of €77.6 million, was used to finance
the dividend distribution and a large portion of the reduction in financial liabilities of 
€73.6 million. Resources of €25.1 million were also available from the capital increase 
of FUCHS PETROLUB, which primarily served to finance the acquisition of WYNN’S, and
temporarily boosted cash and cash equivalents to €29.4 million until January 2004

(€13.5 million). 

PERFORMANCE | STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 



Compared with the prior year, the company’s total output volume decreased by €18.7 mil-
lion (minus 1.7 %) to €1,064.6 million, mainly as a result of the exchange-rate-related 2.2 %
reduction in the Group’s sales revenues compared with 2002. Other income increased by
27.4 % to €23.7 million, due in particular to the sale of real estate in the United Kingdom
and Spain and the disposal of the Ravenol business in Germany. 

Material expenses also decreased due to currency-translation effects to €569.5 million
(minus 1.7 %). Other external services also fell (minus 3.4 %) and amounted to €198.9 mil-
lion for the year. Despite increased goodwill amortization (plus €4.3 million), depreciation
and amortization was only marginally higher than in the prior year (plus 0.2 %). In total,
value added thus decreased by €1.8 million (minus 0.7 %) to €249.7 million. 

On the applications side, there was a reduction in personnel expenses of €7.9 million as 
a result of currency-translation effects. The net interest expense fell by 6.9 %, due above
all to the lower level of borrowing. Taxes on income increased to €21.1 million, however.
Net profit increased again substantially compared with the high level of the prior year
(plus 28.2 %). 

PERFORMANCE | VALUE ADDED STATEMENT 
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Sources of value added 

2003 2003 2002 2002 
€ million % € million %

Sales revenues 1,040.9 97.8 1,064.7 98.3

Other income 23.7 2.2 18.6 1.7

Total output volume 1,064.6 100.0 1,083.3 100.0

Material expenses 569.5 53.5 579.6 53.5

Depreciation and amortization 46.5 4.4 46.4 4.3

Other external services 198.9 18.7 205.9 19.0

Value added 249.7 23.5 251.5 23.2

Distribution of value added 

2003 2003 2002 2002 
€ million % € million %

Personnel expenses 171.9 68.8 179.8 71.5

Net interest expenses 25.8 10.3 27.7 11.0

Taxes on income 21.1 8.5 19.9 7.9

Net income 30.9 12.4 24.1 9.6

Value added 249.7 100.0 251.5 100.0
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€18.7 million invested in property, plant and equipment.

Our projects designed to combine resources and improve efficiency at various produc-
tion locations led, as expected, to lower capital expenditure. In the year under review, 
€18.7 million was invested in property, plant and equipment (€28.8 million) and goodwill
of €0.8 million was acquired (€2.5 million).

Capital expenditure 

High standard of production in the United States 

The focus of capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment in the United States
in the year 2002 was on expanding the grease plant in Kansas and on the establishment
of an ultra-modern filling station for industrial lubricants at the Huntington plant in West
Virginia. These projects were completed in 2003. The next major project is scheduled for
2004. At our location in Harvey near Chicago, we will erect a new laboratory and office
building, thus reflecting the continuous strong growth of our US company in the service
functions. 

Plants in Western Europe already have a strong focus 

The main projects of the year 2003 in Europe were the establishment of tanks and the
modernization of part of a plant in Mannheim. Other capital expenditure was limited to
finishing off the various investment projects of the previous years, which were directed
towards concentration and improving production efficiency. One of these completion
measures was the installation of new equipment for filling engine oil into small contain-
ers in our plant in Nanterre in France. 

Normalization of high rate of capital expenditure by FUCHS LUBRITECH and the Asia-Pacific,
Africa region 

In the year 2002, capital expenditure was at a high level due not least to new plants for
specialty lubricants going into operation and also because of expansion in the Chinese
market. Investment in these core and growing markets normalized in 2003. 

PERFORMANCE | CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENTS IN COMPANIES 



Planned capital expenditure in 2004

The main capital-expenditure projects planned for the year 2004 include the laboratory
and office building for our US lubricant business, the introduction of SAP software at our
specialty-lubricant companies in Germany, machinery and equipment for laboratories and
testing facilities in Mannheim, the expansion of grease plants in China and South Africa,
and the improvement of fire-protection measures at various European plants. The planned
volume of capital expenditure amounts to some €23 million. 

Depreciation and amortization 

At €27.3 million, depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets but
excluding write-downs of goodwill and financial assets were lower than the prior-year
figure (€30.2 million). The ratio of 0.7 for capital expenditure to depreciation and amor-
tization had a positive impact on the free cash flow. 

Net goodwill write-downs totaled €19.3 million (€15.0 million). 
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2003

2002

2001

2000

1999

Capital expenditure and
depreciation and

amortization – tangible 
and intangible assets
(excluding goodwill) 

[€ million]

28.8
30.2

18.7
27.3

28.7
26.9

32.5
27.1

30.0
26.5

Capital expenditure 

Depreciation and amortization
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Investments in companies 

FUCHS continues its growth in Asia-Pacific 

The FUCHS PETROLUB Group acquired an 11% stake in NIPPON KOYU of Tokyo, Japan, 
via a capital increase last year. With sales revenues of €29.4 million and 125 employees,
NIPPON KOYU is the third-largest lubricant producer in Japan, one of the world’s biggest
lubricant markets. 

In Australia, FUCHS LUBRICANTS (AUSTRALASIA) acquired the lubricant business of EXPRESS

OILS in Western Australia. EXPRESS OILS’ sales revenues were around €2.2 million in its
latest financial year. 

Discontinuation of trading companies in Europe 

In June 2003, we sold the business of RAVENSBERGER SCHMIERSTOFFVERTRIEB in Werther,
with its brand name of RAVENOL, to a former distributor. And in the United Kingdom, a
base-oil trading business was sold at the same time. The disposed businesses generated
total revenues of €9 million. 



The following segment report corresponds with the Group’s internal organization and
structure of reporting by geographical region. In addition to this primary reporting format,
the financial report contains more detailed segment information and explanations. 

Moreover, as a secondary reporting format, the product segments are reported on within
the context of reporting on sales revenues on page 52 and in the financial report on
pages 88 and 89 and under note (34). 

Segment assets and segment earnings include all directly allocable items as well as indirect
items to varying degrees. Whereas allocation of amounts is necessary to a small extent
only in the regional segments, due to the common use of production facilities and other
items, the assets of the product segments are solely determined via indirect allocation. 

The details given in the segment reporting refer to developments in the respective coun-
tries’ currencies. Due to the sharp appreciation of the euro and the effects of currency
translation, this can lead to deviations from the values used in the consolidated financial
statements. 

SEGMENT REPORT 
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Germany: FUCHS EUROPE SCHMIERSTOFFE fully integrated in Europe 

FUCHS EUROPE LUBRICANTS succeeded in raising its earnings and was integrated more
into the European organization. During 2004, the production structure of the German
plants will be reorganized in order to create free capacity for the production of highly
specialized metal-working oils. 

WISURA MINERALÖLWERK GOLDGRABE & SCHEFT took over one of RAVENSBERGER SCHMIER-

STOFFVERTRIEB’s business units and thus completed its portfolio. In addition, RAVENSBERGER

SCHMIERSTOFFVERTRIEB sold a large part of its business activities to a former customer,
who also took over the lease on the location. 

SEGMENT REPORT BY REGIONS | EUROPE 

Segment information [in € million ] 2003 2002

Sales revenues by customer’s location 640.2 663.9

Sales revenues by company’s location 694.4 717.2

– thereof with other segments 20.8 16.9

Depreciation of tangible and intangible assets1) 21.2 22.7

Income from associated companies 0.3 0.1

Segment earnings (EBIT) 53.9 44.9

Segment assets2) 386.1 394.5

Segment liabilities3) 129.9 131.8

Capital expenditure on tangible and intangible assets1) 12.9 21.5

Impairment losses5) 4.2 4.6

Employees (average numbers) 2.556 2.591

Performance measure [in %]

Ratio of EBIT to sales revenues6) 7.7 6.2

1) 2) 3) 5) 6) see page 88



FUCHS LUBRITECH: business with specialty lubricants is further strengthened 

The LUBRITECH Group with its headquarters in Weilerbach once again increased its sales
revenues and earnings. We will continue with the rationalization of business activities in
Germany and abroad in order to strengthen the focus and profitability of our worldwide
activities in the field of specialty lubricants. LUBRITECH’s sales revenues and earnings
increased at an above-average rate. We expect the specialty lubricants business unit to
continue its positive development in the future. 

LIPPERT-UNIPOL: ongoing difficult conditions 

General economic conditions in the field of surface-processing technology remained
extremely weak. Our customers were not immune to these problems, so our sales suffered
accordingly. 

Western Europe excluding Germany: continuation of significant earnings growth 

FUCHS LUBRIFIANTS FRANCE continued its highly positive development and increased its
earnings substantially compared with the prior year. This improvement was related to
rising sales revenues from automotive and industrial lubricants and specialties, as well as
declining fixed costs. At the end of the year 2003, an announcement was made that one
of the French production locations was to be examined. 

FUCHS LUBRICANTS (UK) in the United Kingdom was not quite able to match its excellent
operating profit of the prior year. This was due in particular to declining export volumes
and the general economic situation in the UK. However, due to the sale of the former
production location in Belper a significantly higher net profit was achieved than in 2002.
Furthermore, during 2003 the base-oil trading business operating under the name of
PHOENIX was sold with no effects on the parent company’s earnings. The transfer of pro-
duction from a plant that is now for sale to the more modern part of the facilities in
Hanley will be completed by the end of the first half of 2004. 

Our Spanish subsidiary, FUCHS LUBRICANTES, posted a substantial increase in earnings. 
On the one hand, its operating profit was boosted as a result of higher sales revenues.
On the other hand, the former production and warehousing facilities in Vitoria were sold
yielding an additional contribution to earnings. 

FUCHS LUBRIFICANTI in Italy achieved satisfactory earnings, although it did not match the
strong results of the previous years. 

FUCHS BELGIUM achieved a very pleasing result. As well as increasing its margins, there
were positive rationalization effects from the integration of grease volumes from Italy
and the United Kingdom. 
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Eastern Europe: further expansion 

Earnings in the Eastern Europe region developed positively. 

FUCHS OIL CO. (PL) in Poland once again increased its earnings compared with the prior
year. The merger of our two Polish companies at the end of 2002 led to a more efficient
organizational structure. In 2003, our Polish company succeeded in further strengthening
its market position in the fields of mining and metalworking. 

FUCHS OIL CO. (CZ) in the Czech Republic nearly equaled its good result of the prior year,
although low-margin businesses were disposed of. 

FUCHS OIL RUSSIA increased its sales, but did not completely achieve its earnings targets.
FUCHS will therefore systematically strengthen its activities in selected product segments
in order to better satisfy demand in the fast-growing Russian market. 

2003

2002

2001 

2000 

1999

Development of sales
revenues in Europe 

(by company location) 
[€ million]

599.5

592.7

593.9

717.2

694.4



The consolidated figures of the region of North and South America are significantly affect-
ed by currency translation due to the strong appreciation of the euro. The following details
refer to results measured in local currencies. 

North America: new record figures in a challenging business environment 

In North America, we achieved new records for both sales revenues and earnings in 2003,
although the business environment remained challenging and raw-material costs rose
sharply in the first eight months of the year. 

In the United States, lubricant sales for the metal-working industry rose only slightly due
to weak manufacturing growth, and did not accelerate until September. However, there
was a more positive development for the Lubrodal product line (a special machining oil). 

Price increases for raw materials could not be completely passed on to customers, with
the result that profit margins were reduced, which was largely compensated for by effec-
tive cost management. 

SEGMENT REPORT BY REGIONS | NORTH AND SOUTH AMERICA 
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Segment information [in € million ] 2003 2002

Sales revenues by customer’s location 198.4 219.8

Sales revenues by company’s location 192.7 216.7

– thereof with other segments 0.6 0.4

Depreciation of tangible and intangible assets1) 10.2 13.2

Income from associated companies – –

Segment earnings (EBIT) 22.9 25.6

Segment assets2) 147.9 169.9

Segment liabilities3) 20.1 23.6

Capital expenditure on tangible and intangible assets1) 3.3 4.6

Impairment losses5) 0.2 1.4

Employees (average numbers) 620 639

Performance measure [in %]

Ratio of EBIT to sales revenues6) 11.9 11.8

1) 2) 3) 5) 6) see page 88
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New records were set for sales revenues and earnings in Canada. The sale of metal-work-
ing lubricants to the automotive industry in Ontario was rather weak compared with
2002, as this sector is closely dependent on the US economy. Sales figures in the west of
Canada reached a new record despite lasting problems in the forestry sector. This was
possible due to a stronger focus on metal-working lubricants. 

In Mexico, whose economy reflects the situation in the United States, sales revenues were
flat in 2003. This was mainly due to the decision by the local management to reduce
unprofitable business activities, with the result that operating profit rose sharply to its
highest level so far. 

South America: excellent revenues and profits 

The Brazilian economy has recovered again after its difficulties in 2002. FUCHS DO BRASIL

grew faster than Brazil’s economic output and achieved its best ever results in terms of
sales revenues and earnings. The company has now completed the construction of a new
grease factory and expects excellent growth rates in this important market segment. 

Argentina’s economy also recovered in 2003 from the consequences of a drastic devalua-
tion of its currency and a triple-digit inflation rate in the previous year. The economic
recovery combined with the development of new business activities led to a significant
increase in sales revenues and a high level of earnings. Although the company’s profit
margins came under pressure due to the intensified competition that was a result of the
revitalized economy, these effects could largely be offset by strict spending controls. 

2003

2002

2001 

2000 

1999

Development of sales
revenues in North 

and South America 
(by company location) 

[€ million] 222.3

217.6

174.9

216.7

192.7



Near and Middle East: increased market share and market awareness 

Despite stagnating demand and the turbulence of the Iraq war, our Saudi-Arabian joint
venture, ALHAMRANI-FUCHS PETROLEUM SAUDI ARABIA, succeeded in raising its market
share and market awareness. Margins were impacted by sharp rises in base-oil prices,
making 2003 the company’s most difficult year so far. 

Exports by FUCHS OIL MIDDLE EAST to nearby markets made pleasing progress despite the
fact that markets were very subdued during the months of the war in Iraq. 

SEGMENT REPORT BY REGIONS | ASIA-PACIFIC, AFRICA 
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Segment information [in € million ] 2003 2002

Sales revenues by customer’s location 202.3 181.0

Sales revenues by company’s location 174.8 147.8

– thereof with other segments – –

Depreciation of tangible and intangible assets1) 10.7 7.3

Income from associated companies – 0.4 – 0.1

Segment earnings (EBIT) 5.1 9.6

Segment assets2) 110.3 110.8

Segment liabilities3) 31.6 22.6

Capital expenditure on tangible and intangible assets1) 2.9 4.2

Impairment losses5) 6.3 2.8

Employees (average numbers) 930 790

Performance measure [in %]

Ratio of EBIT to sales revenues6) 5.6 6.6

1) 2) 3) 5) 6) see page 88
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Continued good prospects for Indian subcontinent 

While the results of the business with automotive lubricants did not fulfill our expecta-
tions, the business with industrial lubricants developed positively in general and will
remain a key focus of our activities in this region in view of the large market potential
for specialized FUCHS products. In Bangladesh primarily the internal processes were
improved during last year.

South Africa: new record results 

Whereas this area’s general volatility continued as a result of well-known economic and
political factors, our team in South Africa succeeded in making considerable progress
once again. 

Increased value added was attained by improving the product mix. These products’ advan-
tages for the customer were responsible for double-digit growth in the company’s sales
revenues. 

Further expansion of market share in East Asia 

Our Chinese companies once again achieved double-digit growth in sales revenues and
earnings in 2003. Through the acquisition of the remaining 35.5 % of FUCHS-KEWEI

SPECIALTY LUBRICANTS (HEFEI) in 2004, all our Chinese subsidiaries are now 100 % owned
by the FUCHS PETROLUB Group. We expect sales in China to continue growing this year. 

MAKOTO-FUCHS, our Japanese joint venture, posted pleasing growth rates for sales rev-
enues and earnings. We strengthened our position in this market through the acquisition
of a minority shareholding in Japan’s third-largest grease producer. 

Following a change of management, FUCHS LUBRICANTS (KOREA) will match the success of
our other companies in the region. FUCHS LUBRICANTS TAIWAN further improved its sales
revenues and earnings. 
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Southeast Asia, Australia, New Zealand: positive revenue trend and good earnings 

The companies in Southeast Asia, Australia and New Zealand in which we hold shares
performed very well last year in terms of both sales revenues and operating profits. 

FUCHS LUBRICANTS (AUSTRALASIA) posted a substantial rise in sales revenues and earnings.
The decisive factors for this good performance were gains in market share and successful
cost management. 

FUCHS INDONESIA also increased its sales revenues and earnings. Changes in its manage-
ment and the restructuring of the company yielded the desired results. 

At FUCHS PETROLUBE (MALAYSIA), success is apparent as a result of changes in the local
management and the restructuring of the company. 

Our business activities in the Philippines, Singapore and Thailand are being reorganized
with positive effects to come before the end of this year. 

2003

2002

2001 

2000 

1999

Development of sales
revenues in Asia-Pacific,

Africa (by company location) 
[€ million]

131.1

124.9

96.3

147.8

174.8
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In 2003, the Group employed 331 (333) people in research and development, including
engineers, chemists and technical specialists and assistants. Expenditure on R&D totaled
€22.6 million (€23.6 million). 

Our ability at FUCHS to innovate and build specialist know-how focuses on an R&D approach
based on customer-orientation and partnership, and on networking and joint projects. 
In the same way as the international centers of competence, in the year under review,
domestic companies carried out their own key development projects, preparing new
products for market. 

Refrigerating oils for natural refrigerants 

Even in industrial cooling and chilled transport, there is a growing trend towards carbon
dioxide for use as a natural refrigerant: the equipment used to chill foods or air condi-
tioning units in buses for example. To achieve the right temperature, a range of refriger-
ating oils has been developed, matched perfectly to both the refrigerants and refrigerat-
ing processes. These oils are miscible with refrigerants and help reduce the level of wear
in compressors (which can be subject to severe loads). They even remain stable under
extreme compressor temperatures and pressures – without compromising flow properties
at low temperatures. Development and testing work was carried out jointly with a num-
ber of leading manufacturers of refrigerator compressors and refrigerator units. 

Adjustable backrests, simplified 

Almost all car seats contain a seat-back adjuster. In a long-term development project
undertaken jointly with the global market leader, FUCHS developed a special lubricating
grease for use with these recliner units. The grease has to work properly at low tempera-
tures, be stable under heat, protect the unit properly from wear and offer wash-off
resistance. FUCHS developed a special test rig for the customer to ensure the grease met
all specifications. The final solution was a careful blend of additives and solid lubricants
which enabled the user to set the recliner unit without applying too much force, even under
strain, thus ensuring the durability and reliability of the unit in everyday use. 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
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Gentle on catalytic converters and low in pollutants 

Vehicles fitted with exhaust filters have to use sulfate-free fuel, and, importantly, low-
pollutant engine oils. A special type of zinc-free oil (for use in commercial vehicle’s diesel
engines fitted with particulate filters) now makes it possible to cut sulfate emissions
drastically as well as phosphorous and sulfate ash, simultaneously minimizing evaporation
loss. Using this engine oil helps reduce fuel and oil consumption. It also extends the useful
life of exhaust filter systems. The engine oil – the first of its kind to be approved by a
leading manufacturer of commercial vehicles – is now setting the pace for the market. 
It also already meets strict EURO 4 and EURO 5 emission requirements. 

In the bat of an eye: non-contact, non-destructive measurement of oil layer thickness 

Modern steelworks coat cold-rolled car-body sheets with an extremely thin layer of oil, as
part of the forming and corrosion protection process. To process the metal sheet further,
the oil layer thickness has to be exactly right. To measure this thickness quickly without
touching or destroying the film, a sturdy handheld device was developed for straightfor-
ward everyday use by metal-manufacturing and processing companies. The measurement
process uses infrared filter technology and can be applied to a broad variety of metal types.
It only takes a number of seconds and does away with the painstaking task of gravimetric
testing in laboratories, which can take several hours. The handheld unit has been tested
– and recommended – by a working party at the VDA (The German Association of the
Automotive Industry) and will soon be making its way into quality assurance in the steel
and automotive industries. 

Emulsions instead of oils 

In metalworking, the whole process chain has to be analyzed to ascertain whether it makes
sense to use oils or emulsions as a cooling lubricant. In the manufacture of ball-screw
spindles, customers and lubricant manufacturers joined forces to do precisely that, lead-
ing to a switch from oils to newly developed emulsions. This has reduced the frequency
of work-spindle cleaning – from every shift to once every third shift. An added benefit is
that the manufactured spindles are much cleaner than they used to be, as is the whole
production line. 
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Worldwide workforce growth 

Worldwide, the Group employed 4,220 people (4,081) on December 31, 2003. Year-on-year,
the total workforce has thus increased by 139, or 3.4 %. 

On December 31, 2003, the Group employed 3,117 (2,925) people abroad and 1,103 (1,156)
in Germany. Compared with the previous year, the number of employees in Germany
decreased by 53, or 4.6 %. Abroad, the number rose by 192, or 6.6 %. 

Positive developments in the business – particularly in China – as well as organic growth
in Asia led to a rise in employee numbers in the Asia-Pacific, Africa region, with year-on-
year workforce expansion of 198 employees. This growth was facilitated by the integration
of FUCHS LUBRICANTS (BANGLADESH). 

On the other hand, the number of employees in Western Europe decreased as a result of
restructuring. In Eastern Europe there was an increase, however, due in particular to the
consolidation of our Hungarian company. Overall therefore, the size of the workforce in
Europe remained almost constant. 

Worldwide, at the end of 2003, 38.2 % (38.4 %) of the workforce was employed in engi-
neering and production, 35.2 % (34.2 %) in marketing and sales, 17 % (16.4 %) in adminis-
tration, 7.8 % (8.2 %) in research and development and 1.8 % (2.8 %) in other areas. 

OUR PEOPLE 



Company pension scheme

FUCHS PETROLUB Group pension programs are intended to provide the best possible per-
formance using defined-contribution and defined-benefit pension systems. 

In our German companies a total of 457 (440) former employees and their dependents
were entitled, as of December 31, 2002, to a company pension, including disablement
and surviving dependant's pensions. As of the reporting date, there were also non-
forfeitable entitlements relating to 176 (197) active and 87 (98) retired employees, as 
well as 8 (10) forfeitable entitlements for active employees.

Our affiliated companies abroad offer their own company pension schemes, each subject
to domestic statutory requirements as well as being subsidized substantially by the FUCHS

company involved. 

Career development and qualifications 

Given the high-tech, specialized nature of our products and the continual pace of FUCHS

PETROLUB Group internationalization, it is increasingly essential for all members of the
workforce to possess the right qualifications and skills. 

As a result, FUCHS PETROLUB places particular emphasis on systematic and consistent
training of potential managers coupled with appropriate human-resources development.
The aim is to safeguard key management positions – at home and abroad – and boost
motivation and employee loyalty. 

The FUCHS ACADEMY organizes regular specialist seminars on tribology and lubrication
technology, and in 2003 the first sales seminar took place at Group headquarters in
Mannheim. Courses at the FUCHS ACADEMY will continue to expand in keeping with
requirements. 
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Geographical 
workforce structure

[%/number]

15 % North and South America (614)

24 % Asia-Pacific, Africa (993)

26 % Germany (1,103)

35 % Other European countries (1,510)
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As in previous years, the FUCHS PETROLUB Group offered employees a variety of options
for gaining qualifications in 2003. On December 31, 2003, a total of 45 employees at
German companies underwent training, matching previous high levels. A number of the
larger FUCHS companies abroad also make important contributions to the development
of young managers with qualified training programs. 

In 2003 the number of trainees, interns and college students added up to more than 
60 worldwide. 

Our heartfelt appreciation to all staff

We would like to take this opportunity to express our gratitude to all our labor councils-
for their cooperation and mutual support in arriving at joint solutions and consensus,
sometimes in difficult circumstances. 

The Executive Board and the Group Executive Committee would also like to thank all
members of staff for their hard work and commitment, without which the company
would not have been able to make 2003 the successful year it was. The company looks
forward to this continuing shared commitment, and a common sense of dedication to
our tasks and objectives. 

Our thanks also go to all of the Group’s former employees who entered into their much-
deserved retirement during the course of 2003. 

The companies continues to honor the memory of all who passed away since the publica-
tion of our last annual report. 

Structure of 
workforce by function 

[%/number]

38.2 % Engineering/production (1,611)

    7.8 % Research and development (331)

17.0 % Administration (719)

35.2 % Marketing/sales (1,484)

1.8 % Others (75)



Risk management

The goal of the FUCHS PETROLUB Group is to achieve long-term profitable growth. Creating
value should be based upon the premise that it is only worth entering into a risk if it can-
not be avoided – but if it can be kept under control. A risk counts as any event or activity
posing a threat to the success of the company, or at worst, its very existence. 

To monitor and control risks, the FUCHS PETROLUB Group has its own opportunity and
risk management system geared to the international nature of the overall organization.
The risk management system is an integral part of the overall planning, steering and
reporting process. Key areas are strategic planning, medium-term planning, budgeting,
reporting, ongoing financial controlling, risk reporting, organization and processes, and
internal auditing. 

The risk detection process is decentralized. As there is a detailed understanding of corpo-
rate risk and its origins in the departments and the headquarters, it takes place at both
these locations. Risk detection entails recognizing any factors capable of endangering
the company, or at worst its very existence. But it also entails pinpointing opportunity in
order subsequently to exploit them. 

Risks are quantified according to their probability of occurrence and extent of damage.
This enables us to identify which present a real risk and, if necessary, take adequate
measures:

The decision whether or not to control a risk is the responsibility of the Executive Board
of FUCHS PETROLUB AG.

Our early detection system for risks has been evaluated by the Group's external auditors,
who deemed all instruments suitable for the early detection of any development likely
to pose a threat to the existence of the Group. The risk management system is subject to
continuous improvement under internal and external auditing procedures. 

Individual risks

Economic risks 

Despite its broad diversification, the business is unaffected by developments in the glob-
al economy, even if industrial production in particular has suffered a downturn. FUCHS

PETROLUB has continued to prosper despite global economic decline, which if anything
was exacerbated by the escalation of trouble in the Middle East. The outbreak of the
respiratory syndrome SARS, which had severe effects in the Asian region, also failed to
make any significant impact on FUCHS’ business in that area. 
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Sector risks

As the world's largest independent vendor of high-quality lubricants and related specialized
products, the company possesses crucial advantages over its competitors. To reinforce –
and effectively expand – its market position, FUCHS PETROLUB constantly researches and
develops new products and processes. Also in the future, our innovation and niche strat-
egy, our international presence and our highly specialized nature, backed up by stringent
cost control and cash-flow management, will continue to provide a competitive edge
and ongoing profit growth. 

The proposed introduction of REACH (a new chemical substance evaluation and authori-
zation system) threatens to add costs for the whole industry. In October 2003, the European
Commission tabled a legislation proposal before the European Parliament. Central to
their proposal is the introduction of a detailed registration and approval system taking
into account the entire chemical life cycle. As definitive legislation has yet to be passed,
it is difficult at present to assess the possible implications of REACH. The prevailing view
is that the introduction of REACH will not take place until 2006, but nevertheless, the
FUCHS PETROLUB Group has already started allocating responsibilities and setting up
workgroups, which will examine the issue regularly. 

Risks arising within different parts of the company 

The breadth of our product portfolio and continuing international expansion serve to
reduce the FUCHS PETROLUB Group's overall dependence on revenues from individual
companies. Increasingly, contributions to Group profits from Germany and North America
are being matched by other countries in Western and Eastern Europe, as well as increas-
ingly the Asian companies. Moreover, a broad base of more than 113,000 customers in
120 countries, our dependence on individual customers or clusters of customers is minimal. 

The availability of raw materials is not without risk for FUCHS PETROLUB. 

The company pools its procurement activities and has installed efficiency routines to help
keep costs to a minimum. The lubricant sector is not at risk from daily price fluctuations
and is also not dictated to directly by crude-oil prices. It is, however, subject to price dif-
ferentiation in value-added areas and processing operations involved. These have been
constant for a long time. Nevertheless, base oil prices currently stand at a ten-year high
and this could have a negative impact on earnings. 

We work closely with customers on development programs and joint projects, enabling
us to identify research-and-development risks at an early stage. This fosters our ability to
innovate and work in highly specialized fields – a key success factor in our line of business. 



Financing risks 

The company does face the possibility of risks in the area of finance, due to interest-rate
and exchange-rate risks. The key risks are interest-rate fluctuation and exchange-rate
movements. The latter comes into play with currency-translation effects. This can happen
with a weakening of the US dollar, and other currencies in which we generate significant
earnings or hold substantial assets. This contrasts with transaction effects, which have 
a particular impact on the Group when we purchase raw materials in foreign currencies.
Both translation and transaction risks are netted out to a large extent at Group level. 

We reduce financial and currency risks by entering into term- and currency-matched
financing and by making use of derivative instruments. We deploy these instruments
depending on the nature of the risk, in keeping with corresponding guidelines, and only
enter into such transactions for hedging reasons. 

Legal risks 

There are no pending or threatened court cases or arbitration proceedings likely to have
a significant effect on the economic standing of the companies in the FUCHS PETROLUB

Group. 

There is a latent risk posed by product liability cases, which could lead to claims for dam-
ages. FUCHS PETROLUB works to counteract this risk by constantly improving its quality-
management systems. It also makes adjustments in the level of cover provided by product
liability insurance. 

The risk posed by faulty contracts or the actual absence of contracts is minimized by
managing and checking all contract agreements centrally. Key contracts are also checked
externally by legal consultants. 

Accordingly, we do not anticipate any significant disruptions to business arising from
legal risks.
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Other risks and IT risks 

There are currently no discernible risks at FUCHS PETROLUB to IT systems or data records.
Despite this, we work constantly on updating IT infrastructures, system backups, virus
protection, access restrictions and broader internal networks. 

The FUCHS PETROLUB Group's global presence entails certain country-by-country risks and
location-related risks. Steps have been taken to tighten security. Property and liability risks
as well as the risk posed by business interruptions are sufficiently covered by insurance
policies. 

We do not face any particular risks in the area of human resources. Given the fierce com-
petition for well-qualified specialists and managers, we offer employees attractive
amenities. 

To support the selection and recruitment of new staff, we provide a variety of appealing
trainee schemes and training initiatives. We also provide ongoing vocational training
and employee development programs to encourage company loyalty among key experts.
To ensure FUCHS remains an attractive employer, the performance of remuneration pack-
ages is geared appropriately to prevailing market conditions. 

Neither the production facilities required to manufacture lubricants nor the process tech-
nology applied pose any particular risk to the environment. Nevertheless, we continue to
introduce targeted measures to improve soil and water protection. 

There are no other discernible risks, such as management risks. 

Overall risk 

In summary, all risks to the FUCHS PETROLUB Group are capable of containment. The con-
tinuing existence of the company is not currently under threat. We also do not perceive
any immediate possibility of a future risk to the company's continued existence. 

Our risk management system ensures that key risks are identified early and dealt with
accordingly. We have made all possible provision for typical business risks capable of
having a major influence on company assets, finances and profits. 



Business developments in the first two months of 2004

We successfully continued our business activities in the first two months of the year 2004.
The Group increased its sales revenues by 1.4% as a result of internal growth; but due to
currency-translation effects, the Group’s nominal revenues trend is actually negative. 

Measured in local currencies, the regions of Asia-Pacific and Africa and Central and
Eastern Europe boosted their sales revenues at double-digit rates. In the Americas and
Western Europe, single-digit growth rates were achieved, but in Germany the year began
at a more moderate pace. 

Forecast for full-year 2004

After a 0.8 % decline in the world market for lubricants in 2003, for the year 2004 we expect
growth of 0.5 % to 1% at the most. At the same time, the concentration and consolida-
tion of the lubricant industry will continue in the mature markets. 

In the markets for primary materials, we expect the currently high level of prices to con-
tinue in the coming months. 

The strategy of the FUCHS PETROLUB Group will remain oriented towards value-based
growth. This means that we will continue our specialization and focus. In isolated cases,
this will entail the discontinuation of low-margin business activities. Our internal and
possibly also external growth are also intended to serve the goal of increasing our degree
of specialization. In parallel, we will further optimize our cost structure. For this purpose,
various measures have already been initiated in Germany and France, which will be
implemented during 2004. The acquisition of WYNN’S metal-working business in France
will also strengthen the position of FUCHS in the specialty-lubricants sector. 

Overall, despite the challenging market conditions we are confident of achieving a repeat-
ed increase in earnings in the year 2004. Contributions to this increase are to come from
all three regions of the world. And contributions to a higher net profit will come not only
from the continuation of our policy of specialization, focus and strict cost discipline, but
also from decreasing financing costs and a stable effective tax rate. Measured in euros,
sales revenues may remain affected by unpredictable exchange-rate developments, despite
our internal and external growth. 

Capital expenditure of some €23 million on property, plant and equipment and on intan-
gible assets is planned, which is slightly higher than in the prior year. Our facilities are in
a good condition due to the modernization and expansion that has taken place in recent
years. 

81Group management report 
Outlook  

OUTLOOK 



82 Financial report
Contents

Consolidated financial statements 

– Statement of income 
– Balance sheet 
– Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 
– Statement of cash flows 

Regional and product segments 

Statement of changes in non-current assets 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

– Basis of preparation
General information 
Consolidated companies 
Changes in the consolidated Group  
Consolidation principles 
Foreign currency translation 

– Accounting and valuation principles 
Intangible assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Leasing 
Financial assets 
Inventories 
Receivables and other current assets 
Securities 
Derivative financial instruments 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Deferred taxes 
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 
Other provisions 
Liabilities 
Sales revenues 
Cost of sales 
Selling and distribution costs
Administration costs
Research and development expenses 
Financing expenses 
Adjustments

– Notes to the income statement  
Sales revenues 
Costs of sales 
Selling and distribution costs
Other operating income and expenses 
Investment income 
Goodwill amortization 

84

84
85
86
87

88

90

92

92
92
92
93
94
94

96
96
96
97
97
98
98
98
98
99
99

100
100
100
101
101
101
101
101
101
101

102
102
102
102
103
104
104

CONTENTS



83Financial report 
Contents 

Financial result 
Taxes on income 
Minority interests 
Earnings per share 
Other taxes 
Personnel expenses/employees

– Notes to the balance sheet 
Non-current assets 
Goodwill 
Financial assets 
Inventories 
Trade receivables 
Other receivables and other assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Deferred tax assets
Shareholders’ equity 
Participation-right certificates 
Provisions for pensions
Other provisions 
Liabilities 
Financial liabilities 
Trade payables
Other liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Joint ventures 
Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations 
Financial instruments 
Notes on the statement of cash flows 
Notes on the segment reporting
Relationships with related parties
Details of the corporate boards  
Shares held by the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
Corporate Governance Code 
Events after the balance sheet date 

Auditors’ certificate 

Annual financial statements of FUCHS PETROLUB AG 

– Statement of income 
– Balance sheet 

Proposal on the appropriation of profits 

Major subsidiaries 

105
105
107
107
107
108

109
109
110
111
111
111
112
112
112
113
114
114
117
119
118
119
122
122
123
123
124
127
127
128
129
130
130
130

131

132

132
133

134

135



84 Financial report
Consolidated financial statements 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
STATEMENT OF INCOME 

[€ million] Notes 2003 2002

Sales revenues (1) 1,040.9 1,064.7

Cost of sales (2) – 653.7 – 665.0

Gross profit 387.2 399.7

Selling and distribution costs (3) –200.2 –209.2

Administration expenses –71.2 –76.2

Research and development expenses –22.6 –23.6

–294.0 –309.0

Operating result 93.2 90.7

Other operating income and expenses (4) 1.3 –5.7

Investment income (5) – 0.1 0.0

Earnings before interest, taxes and
goodwill amortization (EBITA) 94.4 85.0

Goodwill amortization (EBITA) (6) –19.3 –15.0

Earnings before interest and taxes 
(EBIT) 75.1 70.0

Financial result (7) –23.1 –26.0

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 52.0 44.0

Taxes on income (8) –21.1 –19.9

Net income for the year 30.9 24.1

Minority interests (9) –1.2 –1.0

Earnings per share [€] (10)

Ordinary shares 4.03 3.15

Preference shares 4.21 3.32

Earnings per share before (10)
goodwill amortization [€]

Ordinary shares 5.31 4.63

Preference shares 5.50 4.80
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[€ million] Notes 31.12.2003 31.12.2002

Assets

Goodwill (14) 87.3 106.1 

Other intangible assets 3.6 4.9

Property, plant and equipment 161.8 181.0

Shares in associated companies (15) 8.9 17.3

Other financial assets (15) 3.2 3.2

Non-current assets (13) 264.8 312.5

Inventories (16) 126.5 132.8

Trade receivables (17) 170.2 169.6

Other receivables and other assets (18) 37.8 45.6

Securities 0.0 0.2

Cash and cash equivalents (19) 29.4 13.4

Current assets 363.9 361.6

Deferred tax assets (20) 7.2 4.3

635.9 678.4

Equity and liabilities

Subscribed capital 70.7 62.1

Group reserves 32.1 20.0

Group profits 29.7 23.1

FUCHS PETROLUB Group capital 132.5 105.2

Minority interest 5.2 4.9

Shareholders' equity (21) 137.7 110.1

Participation-right certificates (22) 51.1 51.1

Pension provisions (23) 57.0 56.1

Other provisions (24) 62.0 58.4

Provisions 119.0 114.5

Financial liabilities (26) 188.2 267.3

Trade payables (27) 85.7 79.5

Other liabilities (28) 45.6 46.7

Liabilities (25) 319.5 393.5

Deferred tax liabilities (29) 8.6 9.2

635.9 678.4
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Subscribed Capital Equity Effects Market Group’s Minority Share-
capital reserves capital, from valuation capital interest holders’

AG AG generated currency of financial equity
in the translation instruments

[€ million] Group 

Balance at 31.12.2001 62.1 78.4 – 58.8 34.7 – 0.7 115.7 4.9 120.6

Dividend payments 0 0 – 9.8 – 9.8 – 0.6 –10.4

Capital increase – 0.3 – 0.3

Net gains and losses 
not recognized in the 
Income Statement 

Currency effects 0 0 –23.3 –23.3 – 0.1 –23.4

Financial instruments – 0.5 – 0.5 – 0.5

Net gains and losses 
recognized in the 
Income Statement

Net income for 2001 0 0 23.1 23.1 1.0 24.1

Balance at 31.12.2002 62.1 78.4 – 45.5 11.4 –1.2 105.2 4.9 110.1

Dividend payments –11.0 –11.0 – 0.8 –11.8

Capital increase 2.4 –2.4 0 0

Capital repayments 6.2 18.9 25.1 25.1

Net gains and losses 
not recognized in the 
Income Statement

Currency effects –18.5 –18.5 –18.5

Financial instruments 1.7 1.7 1.7

Net gains and losses 
recognized in the 
Income Statement

Net income for 2003 29.7 29.7 1.2 30.9

Balance at 31.12.2003 70.7 94.9 –26.5 –7.1 0.5 132.5 5.2 137.7
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[€ million] 2003 2002

Net income for the year 30.9 24.1

Depreciation and amortization of non-current assets 46.5 46.4

Change in long-term provisions 2.2 5.7

Cash earnings 79.6 76.2

Change in short-term provisions 5.1 8.6

Change in inventories – 0.2 –1.3

Change in receivables –3.7 3.9

Change in other assets 7.0 –2.1

Change in liabilities (excluding financial liabilities) 6.9 – 6.3

Net gain/loss on disposal of non-current assets –5.6 0.5

Other non-cash income and expenses 0.0 –1.0

Cash inflow from operating activities 89.1 78.5

Investments in intangible assets – 0.3 –1.8

Investments in property, plant and equipment –18.4 –27.0

Investments in financial assets –1.7 – 4.7

Acquisitions of consolidated business unit – 0.7 –3.9

Proceeds from the disposal of intangible assets 0.4 0.1

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 8.0 5.7

Proceeds from the disposal of financial assets 1.2 1.1

Cash outflow from investing activities –11.5 –30.5

Free cash flow (before dividend distribution) 77.6 48.0

Dividends paid –11.8 –10.4

Change in financial liabilities –73.6 – 49.3

Capital increase by Fuchs Petrolub AG 25.1 0.0

Change in minority interests 0.0 –0.3

Cash outflow from financing activities – 60.3 – 60.0

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 13.5 27.1

Cash inflow from operating activities 89.1 78.5

Cash outflow from investing activities –11.5 – 30.5

Cash outflow from financing activities – 60.3 – 60.0

Effect of currency translation –1.4 –1.6

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 311) 29.4 13.5

Details of acquisition and disposal of companies 
and other business units:

Total of all purchase prices 
(including consolidated business entities of €0.7 million) 0.7 4.6

Total of acquired cash and cash equivalents 0.0 0.7

Balance of acquired net assets2) 0.1 7.9

Total of all sale prices 2.1 0.5

Total of sold cash and cash equivalents 0.0 0.0 

Total of sold net assets3) 1.2 0.3

Taxes on income amounted to €19.4 million (€16.6 million); interest payments totaled €22.6 million (€27.3 million).

1) Cash and cash equivalents comprise
total liquid resources including
marketable securities.

2) The acquired net assets were taken
over with the acquisition of the
lubricant business of EXPRESS OILS 
in Australia.

3) The sold net assets are of RAVENS-
BERGER SCHMIERSTOFFVERTRIEB
GMBH, with which inventories of
€0.5 million, property, plant and
equipment of €0.5 million and
receivables of €0.2 million were
sold.
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REGIONAL AND PRODUCT SEGMENTS

Europe North and South America

[€ million] 2003 2002 Change 2003 2002 Change

Sales revenues by customer’s location 640.2 663.9 –23.7 198.4 219.8 –21.4

Sales revenues by company’s location 694.4 717.2 –22.8 192.7 216.7 –24.0

– thereof, with other segments 20.8 16.9 3.9 0.6 0.4 0.2

Depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets1) 21.2 22.7 –1.5 10.2 13.2 – 3.0

Profit/loss of associated companies 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

Segment earnings (EBIT) 53.9 44.9 9.0 22.9 25.6 –2.7

Financial income

Taxes on income 

Net income for the year

Segment assets2) 386.1 394.5 – 8.4 147.9 169.9 –22.0

Segment liabilities3) 129.9 131.8 –1.9 20.1 23.6 – 3.5

Financial liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents

Participation-right capital

Pension provisions

Group liabilities4)

Investments in tangible and intangible assets1) 12.9 21.5 – 8.6 3.3 4.6 –1.3

Impairment losses5) 4.2 4.6 – 0.4 0.2 1.4 –1.2

Employees (average numbers) 2,556 2,591 –35 620 639 –19

Performance measure [%]

EBIT to sales revenues6) 7.8 6.3 11.9 11.8

1) Including goodwill
2) Including shares in associated companies
3) Segment assets less equity capital, participation-right capital, financial liabilities and pension provisions
4) Liabilities, participation-right capital and provisions less cash and cash equivalents
5) On property, plant and equipment and goodwill
6) EBIT excluding profits/losses and impairment losses of associated companies, as their sales revenues are not included in segment sales revenues; sales revenues by company’s location

Automotive oils Industrial oils 
and specialties

[€ million] 2003 2002 Change 2003 2002 Change

Sales revenues by product group 328.6 334.6 – 6.0 586.2 602.5 –16.3

Segment assets1) 196.1 200.1 – 4.0 378.4 401.3 –22.9

Investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets2) 6.6 9.0 –2.4 10.3 18.5 – 8.2

1) Including goodwill 
2) Including shares in associated companies
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Asia-Pacific, Africa Total for operative Holding companies FUCHS PETROLUB Group
companies including consolidation

2003 2002 Change 2003 2002 Change 2003 2002 Change 2003 2002 Change

202.3 181.0 21.3 1,040.9 1,064.7 –23.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,040.9 1,064.7 –23.8

174.8 147.8 27.0 1,061.9 1,081.7 –19.8 –21.0 –17.0 – 4.0 1,040.9 1,064.7 –23.8

0.0 0.0 0.0 21.4 17.3 4.1 –21.4 –17. 3 – 4.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

10.7 7.3 3.4 42.1 43.2 –1.1 4.5 1.3 3.2 46.6 44.5 2.1

– 0.4 – 0.1 – 0.3 – 0.1 0.0 – 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 0.1 0.0 – 0.1

5.1 9.6 – 4.5 81.9 80.1 1.8 – 6.8 –10.1 3.3 75.1 70.0 5.1

–23.1 –26.0 2.9

21.1 19.9 1.2

30.9 24.1 6.8

110.3 110.8 – 0.5 644.3 675.2 – 30.9 – 8.4 3.2 –11.6 635.9 678.4 – 42.5

31.6 22.6 9.0 181.6 178.0 3.6 20.3 15.8 4.5 201.9 193.8 8.1

188.2 267.3 –79.1

29.4 13.3 16.1

51.1 51.1 0.0

57.0 56.1 0.9

468.8 555.0 – 86.2

2.9 4.2 –1.3 19.1 30.3 –11.2 0.4 – 4.8 5.2 19.5 25.5 – 6.0

6.3 2.8 3.5 10.7 8.8 1.9 2.1 0.0 2.1 12.8 8.8 4.0

930 790 140 4,106 4,020 86 82 80 2 4.188 4.100 88

5.6 6.6 8.1 7.4 7.2 6.6

Other products Total for operative Holding companies FUCHS PETROLUB Group
companies including consolidation

2003 2002 Change 2003 2002 Change 2003 2002 Change 2003 2002 Change

126.1 127.6 –1.5 1,040.9 1,064.7 –23.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,040.9 1,064.7 –23.8

73.5 82.3 – 8.8 648.0 683.7 –35.7 –12.1 –5.3 – 6.8 635.9 678.4 – 42.5

2.2 2.8 – 0.6 19.1 30.3 –11.2 0.4 – 4.8 5.2 19.5 25.5 – 6.0
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Gross amounts
Acquisition and manufacturing costs

Exchange Changes in Reclass-
[€ million] 31.12.2002 differences cons. Group Additions Disposals ifications 31.12.2003

Intangible assets

Industrial property rights and similar 
rights and values 28.0 1.1 0.0 0.3 2.0 0.4 27.8

Goodwill 178.3 – 8.5 0.4 0.8 – 3.7 0.0 174.7

Advance payments 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 0.3 0.1

206.6 –7.3 0.4 1.1 –1.7 0.1 202.6

Property, plant and equipment

Land, land rights and buildings,
including buildings on third-party land 145.0 –7.8 0.3 1.7 2.1 0.9 138.0

Technical equipment and machinery 166.6 – 8.1 0.5 6.3 1.8 3.1 166.6

Other equipment, factory and 
office equipment 87.6 0.9 0.3 6.7 6.9 1.2 89.8

Advance payments and work in progress 5.2 – 0.4 0.0 3.7 0.1 –5.3 3.1

Leased objects 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.7

405.6 –15.4 1.1 18.4 11.4 – 0.1 398.2

Financial assets

Shares in affiliated companies 1.8 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.6 0.0 0.3

Shareholdings in associated companies 22.0 –1.0 0.0 0.5 3.7 0.0 17.8

Other shareholdings 1.5 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 2.6

Loans to companies, in which 
interests are held 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 0.1 0.0

Long-term securities 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.1 0.6

Other loans 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.5

26.8 –1.0 0.1 1.6 5.7 0.0 21.8

Total non-current assets 639.0 –23.7 1.6 21.1 15.4 0.0 622.6
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Net amounts
Depreciation and amortization

Exchange Changes in Deprec. & Reclass-
31.12.2002 differences cons. Group amortiz. Disposals ifications 31.12.2003 31.12.2003 31.12.2002

23.4 1.1 0.0 1.8 2.0 0 24.3 3.5 4.6

72.2 –3.6 0.0 19.3 0.5 0 87.4 87.3 106.1

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0 0.0 0.1 0.3

95.6 –2.5 0.0 21.1 2.5 0 111.7 90.9 111.0

48.2 –2.2 0.0 6.2 1.4 0 50.8 87.2 96.8

114.4 – 4.3 0.1 9.9 1.3 0 118.8 47.8 52.2

61.7 1.6 0.2 9.4 6.1 0 66.8 23.0 25.9

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0 0.0 3.1 5.2

0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0 0.0 0.7 0.9

224.6 – 4.9 0.3 25.5 9.1 0 236.4 161.8 181.0

0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.8 0 0.0 0.3 1.0

4.7 0.0 0.0 4.6 0.4 0 8.9 8.9 17.3

0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0 0.7 1.9 0.8

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0.1

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0 0.0 0.6 0.7

0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0 0.1 0.4 0.6

6.3 0.0 0.0 4.6 1.2 0 9.7 12.1 20.5

326.5 –7.4 0.3 51.2 12.8 0 357.8 264.8 312.5
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General information 

The consolidated financial statements of FUCHS PETROLUB AG, Mannheim, as of December
2003, have been prepared in accordance with the regulations laid down in the guidelines
of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), London, as applicable on the
balance-sheet date. All of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), formerly
International Accounting Standards (IAS), and interpretations of the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), formerly the Standing Interpretations Com-
mittee (SIC), that were binding for the 2003 financial year have been applied. 

The consolidated financial statements and the Group management report comply with
the European Union directive on preparing consolidated accounts (83/349/EEC). To obtain
exemption from the obligation to prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance
with German law, the consolidated financial statements have been supplemented with
additional explanations pursuant to Section 292a of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 

The Group’s currency is the euro (€). All amounts are stated in millions of euros (€ million),
unless otherwise indicated. For the sake of a clearer and more reader-friendly presenta-
tion, some individual items are grouped together in the balance sheet and the statement
of income. These items are listed separately and explained in these notes. 

Consolidated companies 

Fundamentally, all German and international subsidiaries are included in the consolidat-
ed financial statements of FUCHS PETROLUB AG. The year-end financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared with the same balance-sheet date as the consolidated financial
statements (December 31). Each set of year-end financial statements has been examined
by the auditors and provided with an unqualified auditor’s certificate. 

In the case of subsidiaries without any significant business operations which are of minor
importance for forming a true and fair view of the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial posi-
tion and earnings, even in aggregate, these have not been included in FUCHS PETROLUB’s
consolidated financial statements. 

Companies acquired during the course of a financial year have been included with effect
from the date of acquisition. Four affiliated companies which are managed jointly with
other companies have been consolidated pro rata. The consolidated Group includes a
total of 81 (81) companies. 

In the year 2003, the consolidated Group changed as follows: 
■ the addition of four fully consolidated companies,
■ pro rata consolidation of one company previously consolidated at equity, 
■ departure of four fully consolidated companies, of which two companies were merged

within the Group and two companies were liquidated, 
■ departure through liquidation of one company consolidated pro rata. 

The main subsidiaries and associated companies are shown on pages 135 to 136; a com-
plete list of shareholdings pursuant to the provisions of the German Commercial Code
(HGB) has been filed in the Commercial Register of the Mannheim District Court under
the number, HRB 3762. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
BASIS OF PREPARATION 



The companies  
■ ALHAMRANI-FUCHS PETROLEUM SAUDI ARABIA LTD., Jeddah, Saudi-Arabia, 
■ FRAGOL SCHMIERSTOFF GMBH+CO. KG, Mühlheim an der Ruhr, Germany, 
■ LUBRICANT CONSULT GMBH, Maintal, Germany, 
are included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. 

Five German and eight international subsidiaries which in aggregate have a negligible
impact on the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and earnings are not included. 

Use was made of the exemption from the disclosure requirement for the following sub-
sidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements: 
WISURA MINERALÖLWERK GOLDGRABE & SCHEFT GMBH & CO., Bremen, 
pursuant to Section 264b of the HGB, and for 
BREMER & LEGUIL GMBH, Duisburg, 
FUCHS EUROPE SCHMIERSTOFFE GMBH, Mannheim 
FUCHS FINANZSERVICE GMBH, Mannheim, 
FUCHS LUBRITECH GMBH, Weilerbach, and 
PARAFLUID MINERALOELGESELLSCHAFT MBH, Hamburg, 
pursuant to Section 264, Subsection 3 of the HGB. 

Changes in the consolidated Group 

The following companies were consolidated for the first time in the year under review: 

■ FUCHS LUBRICANTS BANGLADESH LTD

FUCHS PETROLUB holds a 100 % stake in this company. It generates annual revenues of
around €3.8 million with 86 employees. This subsidiary has its own production facilities
and operates mainly in the field of automotive lubricants. 

■ FUCHS OIL HUNGARIA KFT

FUCHS PETROLUB holds a 51% stake in this fully consolidated company. It employs 33 persons
and achieves revenues of about €2.3 million. The focus of its business operations is in the
field of industrial lubricants. 

■ FUCHS OIL MIDDLE EAST LTD

FUCHS PETROLUB holds a 50 % stake in this company. It was first consolidated in 1996

using the equity method, and was consolidated pro rata from 2003 when our stake was
increased to 50 %. This trading company employs 11 persons and has revenues of €14.8

million, almost exclusively in the field of automotive lubricants. 

These changes in the consolidated Group do not materially affect comparability with 
the balance sheet and statement of income of the prior year. In total, assets increased 
by €5.5 million, and liabilities by €3.3 million, while revenues rose by €13.4 million. 
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Consolidation principles 

Capital consolidation takes place with all companies in accordance with the purchase
method of accounting as described in IAS 27 and 22. Capital consolidation is effected by
netting off purchasing costs with the Group’s share of the consolidated subsidiaries equity
capital on the date of acquisition. Any difference between the purchase cost and the
Group’s share of the equity capital which is based hidden reserves or liabilities is allocated
to the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary concerned. Any remaining difference is capi-
talized as goodwill and amortized using the straight-line method over a period of 20 years
at the most in accordance with the future economic benefits. 

The corresponding consolidation principles apply for the joint ventures consolidated pro
rata and the associated companies valued using the equity method. One joint venture in
which FUCHS PETROLUB AG holds a 50 % stake has been accounted for using the equity
method in line with the Allowed Alternative Treatment provided for in IAS. 

Intercompany sales, expenses and income as well as receivables and liabilities between
consolidated companies are netted off. Profits or losses from intercompany transactions
are eliminated on consolidation. This does not apply to profits or losses which in total 
are of minor importance for forming a true and fair view of the Group’s assets, liabilities,
financial position and earnings. 

Minority interests in the consolidated equity capital and consolidated net profit are
shown separately from the parent company’s ownership interest. 

Foreign currency translation 

The translation of financial statements prepared in foreign currencies by consolidated
companies takes place in accordance with IAS 21 on the basis of the functional-currency
concept. Since the subsidiaries carry out their business activities autonomously in finan-
cial, economic and organizational terms, their functional currencies are their respective
local currencies. In the consolidated financial statements, the expenses and income of
subsidiaries prepared in national currencies are therefore translated at the average
exchange rate for the year, shareholders’ equity is translated at historical exchange rates,
and assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates on the balance-sheet date.
Any differences arising from currency translation are netted off against shareholders’
equity. This is shown in a separate column of the statement of changes in shareholders’
equity. At the date of any deconsolidation of subsidiaries, the relevant accumulated
currency-translation reserves are released and recognized in the statement of income. 

In the company financial statements of FUCHS PETROLUB AG and its subsidiaries, receivables
and liabilities in foreign currencies are valued at the exchange rates on the balance-sheet
date. Any exchange-rate gains or losses not yet realized on the balance-sheet date are
recognized in the statement of income. 



The currency differences resulting from the consolidation of intercompany debts are also
recognized in the statement of income, and are included under the item of “other oper-
ating income and expenses“. 

Currency translation for the pro rata equity capital of associated companies has been
performed at the respective exchange rates on the balance-sheet date. Translation of the
annual results concerned was carried out at the exchange rates on the balance-sheet
date or at the reference exchange rates specified by the European Central Bank. Divi-
dend payments by associated companies have been translated at the exchange rate on
the date of the distribution. 

In the schedule of fixed assets, the balance at the beginning and at the end of the finan-
cial year has been translated at the exchange rate on the balance-sheet date, and the
other items have been translated at average exchange rates. Any differences arising
from exchange-rate movements are shown in a separate column as exchange-rate differ-
ences with purchasing and manufacturing costs and with accumulated value adjust-
ments.

The exchange rates of the main currencies translated have moved against the euro as
follows: 
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Closing rate [€1] Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002 Change in %

US dollar 1.256 1.043 –20.4

British pound 0.706 0.650 – 8.6

Australian dollar 1.677 1.859 +9.8

Swiss franc 1.560 1.453 –7.4

Chinese renminbi yuan 10.406 8.642 –20.4

Japanese yen 134.410 124.960 –7.6

Indonesian rupee 10,629.100 9,291.350 –14.4

South African rand 8.329 9.092 + 8.4

Average annual exchange rate [€1] 2003 2002 Change in %

US dollar 1.132 0.945 –19.8

British pound 0.692 0.629 –10.0

Australian dollar 1.741 1.739 + 0.1

Swiss franc 1.521 1.467 –3.7

Chinese renminbi yuan 9.379 7.834 –19.8

Japanese yen 131.085 118.153 –10.9

Indonesian rupee 9,717.672 8,820.255 –10.2

South African rand 8.539 9.909 +13.8
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In conformity with IAS 27, the financial statements of FUCHS PETROLUB AG and of its sub-
sidiaries in Germany and abroad are prepared in accordance with uniform accounting
and valuation principles. Valuations that deviate from the Group’s principles in the annual
financial statements of associated companies are retained where they are of negligible
significance. 

Intangible assets 

Acquired intangible assets are valued at the cost of acquisition in accordance with IAS 38.
They are subjected to scheduled amortization over their useful lifetimes using the
straight-line method. 

Property, plant and equipment 

All items of property, plant and equipment are valued at their cost of acquisition or
manufacture, reduced by scheduled depreciation. Straight-line depreciation is applied
over the useful lifetime of the property, plant and equipment. Low-value items are
written off in the year of acquisition. 

Scheduled depreciation is based on the following useful lifetimes, applied throughout
the group: 

The intrinsic value of the carrying amounts of intangible assets and of property, plant
and equipment is regularly tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36. An impair-
ment loss is recognized if the recoverable value of an asset (defined as the higher of the
asset’s net selling price and its value in use) is lower than the carrying amount. If the
reason for a previously recognized impairment loss no longer exists, the impairment is
reversed up to its brought-forward depreciated or amortized cost of purchase or manu-
facture. 

Software and other intangible assets 3 to 5 years 

Goodwill 20 years 

Buildings 20 to 40 years 

Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years 

Vehicles 5 years 

Factory and office equipment 3 to 10 years 

ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION PRINCIPLES 



Leasing 

Fixed assets also include leased assets. IAS 17 includes rules for determining, on the basis
of the risks and rewards of the parties to a lease, whether the lessor or the lessee is the
economic owner of the assets. In the case of finance leases, the assets are attributed to
the lessee and in the case of operating leases the assets are attributed to the lessor. In
accordance with IAS 17, assets leased under finance leases are measured at inception at
their fair value or at the present value of the lease payments, if lower. The assets are
depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lifetimes or over
the lease period, if shorter. The payment obligations resulting from the future leasing
installments are shown at their present values as other financial liabilities. 

If economic ownership remains with the lessor (operating lease), the leasing installments
are recognized as expenses in the year concerned. 

Financial assets 

Shares in non-consolidated subsidies and affiliated companies are shown at the lower of
cost of acquisition or attributable fair value. 

Associated companies are entered in the balance sheet at the Group’s share of the equity
capital of the company. The Group’s share of profits is shown as an addition in the sched-
ule of fixed assets, reduced by dividend payments and goodwill amortization. 

Loans are shown at the cost of acquisition or, in the case of non-interest-bearing loans, at
their present value. Identifiable risks are taken into account by recognizing impairments. 

For securities held as fixed assets, pursuant to IAS 39 a distinction must be made between
securities which are held for trading purposes, available-for-sale securities and held-to-
maturity securities. The FUCHS PETROLUB Group does not hold any securities for trading
purposes. Available-for-sale securities are entered at their fair values if this exists; if not,
they are entered at their cost of acquisition. If they are entered at fair value, unrealized
profits and losses are recognized in shareholders’ equity, net of deferred taxes. Held-to-
maturity securities are entered at their cost of acquisition or at their impaired fair value,
if lower. 
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Inventories 

Inventories are shown at cost of purchase or manufacture, with due consideration of
lower realizable values. Inventory valuation is fundamentally based on the weighted-
average method. In some cases, the fifo (first-in first-out) method is used. In accordance
with IAS 2, cost of manufacture comprises attributable material and production costs,
plus any special itemized production costs. In addition, all overheads attributable to the
production process plus taxes on consumption and depreciation of production equip-
ment are also included. General administrative expenses and the expenses of company
welfare institutions, voluntary welfare benefits and company pension plans as well as
financing costs (IAS 23) are not included in the cost of manufacture. 

Write-downs are effected to cover risks arising from slow-moving items or reduced salability. 

Receivables and other current assets 

Receivables and other assets are stated at nominal values or at cost. Identifiable risks are
taken into account by appropriate allowances. Individual allowances are recognized if
receivables cannot be collected or if collection is unlikely. Non-interest-bearing receivables
with terms of more than one year are discounted. Receivables in foreign currencies are
translated at exchange-rates on the balance-sheet date. 

Securities 

Marketable securities are entered at their fair values. Unrealized gains and losses resulting
from this procedure are recognized in equity capital, net of deferred taxes. 

Derivative financial instruments 

The group uses derivative financial instruments (derivatives) solely to limit the risks in its
operative business and the resultant financial transactions arising from fluctuations in
interest rates and exchange rates. 

Derivatives are financial instruments, whose own value changes in accordance with the
value of an underlying transaction, without this underlying transaction having to be per-
formed. Thus little or no initial investment is necessary. 

Pursuant to IAS 39, derivative financial instruments, such as the interest-rate and interest-
rate/currency swaps and forward exchange transactions primarily used by the Group are
to be entered in the balance sheet at their fair market values. Market values relate to the
expenses or income involved with a (theoretical) winding-up of the derivative agreements
on the balance-sheet date. The determination of fair values is based on the details pro-
vided by the banks involved. 



As derivatives are used solely within the framework of risk limitation or hedging strategies,
the regulations for hedge accounting can be applied. In this respect, IAS differentiates in
particular between fair value hedges and cash-flow hedges. 

A fair value hedge is based on the change in value of an asset or a liability. Since the cor-
responding change in value of the underlying transaction affects net income, then the
(opposing) change in value of the derivative is also recorded in the statement of income. 

A cash-flow hedge is when the derivative secures compensation for the risks in the future
cash flow of an existing underlying transaction or nearly certain future transaction (e.g.
the possible exchange-rate disadvantage of a revenue item in foreign currency). Depend-
ing on how precisely a specific underlying transaction is secured with a corresponding
derivative, the cash-flow hedge is effective or not. Insofar as unrealized profits or losses
arising from the valuation of a derivative correspond with the underlying transaction
involved, i.e., they are hedge effective, they are initially recognized in equity capital (group
reserves) with no effect on the statement of income. As soon as the underlying transaction
affects the statement of income (becomes due), profits or losses arising from the deriva-
tive, like those from the underlying transaction, are shown in the statement of income.
Conversely, the profit or loss arising from the non-hedge-effective part of a derivative is
always shown in the statement of income. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The development of liquid funds, which correspond with cash and cash equivalents pur-
suant to IAS 7, is shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows on page 87. 

Deferred taxes 

In conformity with IAS 12, deferred taxes are formed for all temporary differences between
tax valuations and IFRS valuations for the consolidated companies and for consolidation
measures with an affect on the statement of income. Deferred tax assets essentially relate
to tax deferments on eliminated intercompany profits within the group, particularly in
the category of inventories, and on pension provisions. They also include tax-reduction
claims which arise from the expected utilization of existing loss carryforwards in subse-
quent years and whose realization is reasonably likely. Deferred tax liabilities essentially
result from depreciation differences in fixed assets by reason of divergences between the
Group’s uniform depreciation rules and applicable tax law. 

Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of tax rates applicable on the date of realiza-
tion pursuant to the legislation in the countries involved. 
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Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 

The provisions for pensions are recognized using the projected-unit-credit method in accor-
dance with IAS 19. This method covers not only the pensions and acquired entitlements
known on the balance-sheet date, but also future anticipated increases in pensions and
salaries, with the relevant input factors being estimated. The calculation is based on
actuarial expertises, taking into account the relevant biometric factors. 

The amounts not yet included in the balance sheet are a result of actuarial gains and
losses from changes and deviations between the assumptions made and actual develop-
ments. Actuarial gains and losses are only recognized as income or expenses when their
net cumulative amount exceeds 10 % of the higher amount of pension obligations or
plan assets. In this case, the portion exceeding 10 % is recognized over the average remain-
ing working lives of the employees. The charges from forming the pension provisions 
in the amount of the current service expense are allocated to personnel expenses in the
departments, whereby the interest portion is included in the net financial result. 

Other provisions 

Other provisions are recognized when an obligation to third parties exists, an outflow of
funds is probable (i.e., probability of occurrence greater than 50 %) and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

The values shown for provisions indicate those amounts which are required for covering
future payment obligations, identifiable risks and uncertain liabilities of the group. Long-
term provisions with a remaining term of more than one year are discounted at usual
market conditions to their present value at the balance-sheet date. 

Liabilities 

Liabilities are stated in the balance sheet at their nominal values or repayment amounts.
The valuation of liabilities in connection with derivatives (hedge accounting) may deviate
from this rule. Liabilities from finance leases are stated at the present value of the future
lease payments and shown under “other financial liabilities”.



Sales revenues 

Sales revenues include revenues from ordinary business activities after deducting revenue
reductions and after eliminating intra-group transactions. The date of realization is deter-
mined by the transfer of the risks and rewards of ownership to the customer. 

Cost of sales 

Cost of sales comprises the manufacturing costs of products sold and the purchase costs
of merchandise sold. In accordance with IAS 2, it contains not only directly attributable
material and manufacturing costs, but also production-related overheads including
depreciation of production buildings and equipment and write-downs on inventories. 

Selling and distribution costs 

Selling expenses include the costs of the sales departments and the sales operations, but
also the costs of advertising, commission paid and logistics. 

Administration costs 

Administration expenses comprise the personnel and material costs of the management
and administration departments, if these have not been charged to other departments
as internal services. 

Research and development expenses 

The development costs are recognized as an expense when incurred, since they do not
meet the extensive preconditions of IAS 38 with regard to capitalization. 

Financing expenses 

Financing expenses are, in accordance with IAS 23, immediately recognized as expenses
and shown in the financial result. 

Adjustments 

Some prior-year data has been adjusted to the form of the current representation. 
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(Amounts in € million, unless otherwise stated) 

1 | Sales revenues 

Sales revenues break down by product as follows: 

Other products include polishing technology, job production, chemical management,
base-oil trading and other miscellaneous activities. 

The development of revenues by region can be seen under segment reporting on pages
88 and 89. 

2 | Costs of sales 

3 | Selling and distribution costs 

NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT 

2003 2002 Change in %

Automotive lubricants 328.6 334.6 –1.8

Industrial lubricants and specialties 586.2 602.5 –2.7

Other products 126.1 127.6 – 0.9

1,040.9 1,064.7 –2.2

2003 2002

Cost of purchased raw materials, supplies and goods for resale 566.3 576.5

Cost of purchased services 3.2 3.1

Cost of materials 569.5 579.6

Personnel and other costs 84.2 85.4

653.7 665.0

2003 2002

Freight 42.0 42.9

Commission payments 22.1 24.2

Personnel and other costs 136.1 142.1

200.2 209.2



4 | Other operating income and expenses 

This item covers all operating expenses and income which cannot be allocated directly to
the functional units. 

Income from the disposal of fixed assets mainly applies to gains realized on the sale of
real estate and equipment in England and Spain which was no longer required after
rationalization, as well as on the sale of a lubricant business in Germany. Income from
the retransfer of provisions applies to risks such as in the field of value-added tax, re-
organization measures, expected invoices and restructuring whose occurrence in this
amount is no longer to be expected. Miscellaneous other operating income includes for
example income from the provision of services in chemical management, income from
the storage and resale of DEA goods, the sale of empty containers, subsidies and other
sales. 

Restructuring costs and severance payments are the expected costs of restructuring –
primarily in Europe outside Germany. Miscellaneous other operating expenses include
the costs of chemical plant management, the costs of other sales and exceptional write-
downs and the formation of provisions in the non-operative area. 
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2003 2002

Income from the disposal of fixed assets 5.8 0.6

Income from the release of provisions 5.1 2.3

Income from the reversal of write-downs 0.5 0.8

Income from cost allocations, commission payments, licenses and cost charging 1.6 1.6

Income from rents and leases 0.7 0.8

Currency exchange gains 1.7 2.4

Miscellaneous operating income 6.4 7.7

Other operating income 21.8 16.2

Losses from the disposal of fixed assets 0.2 1.1

Write-downs on receivables 4.7 5.3

Currency exchange losses 2.9 2.1

Expenses of renting fixed assets 0.3 0.3

Restructuring costs and severance payments 6.5 3.5

Miscellaneous operating expenses 5.9 9.6

Other operating expenses 20.5 21.9

Other operating income and expenses 1.3 – 5.7
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5 | Investment income 

Investment income comprises the equity results from associated companies: 

6 | Goodwill amortization 

The figures include impairments of goodwill from company financial statements amount-
ing to €0.8 million (€1.5 million), from consolidation of €5.2 million (€2.8 million) and
from associated companies of €4.0 million (€0.0 million). Impairments of goodwill from
consolidation are netted off with income from the retransfer of badwill in an amount of
€4.7 million (€0.0 million). 

2003 2002

Goodwill amortization arising from 

– company financial statements 3.6 4.7

– consolidation 11.1 9.6

– associated companies 4.6 0.7

19.3 15.0

2003 2002

Income from associated companies 0.3 0.3

Losses from associated companies – 0.4 – 0.3

– 0.1 0.0



7 | Financial result 

The interest component of additions to pension provisions of minus €3.3 million (minus
€3.2 million) is composed of the interest expense of minus €6.9 million (minus €7.1 mil-
lion) for the obligations by the provisions and the pension plan, and the expected
income on the plan assets of €3.6 million (€3.9 million). 

8 | Taxes on income 

Income taxes recognized are taxes on income and earnings paid or owed in the individual
countries and tax deferrals. Their calculation is based on the anticipated taxation rates
applying in the individual countries concerned on the date of realization; these are always
based on the statutory regulations valid or enacted on the balance sheet date. 
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2003 2002

Other interest and similar income 

– subsidiaries 0.0 0.0

– others (mainly banks) 1.9 2.4

Interest and similar expenses 

– subsidiaries 0.0 0.0

– remuneration for participating-right certificates – 3.7 – 3.7

– others (mainly banks) –18.2 –19.8

Interest attributable to finance leases – 0.6 –1.0

Pension provisions 

– interest expense – 6.9 –7.1

– expected income from plan assets 3.6 3.9

Net interest income –23.9 –25.3

Write-downs due to impairment of financial assets 0.0 –1.1

Other financial income 0.8 0.4

Financial result –23.1 –26.0

2003 2002

Current taxes 21.7 20.8

Deferred taxes – 0.6 – 0.9

Total 21.1 19.9
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The tax rate in Germany is based on the corporate income tax rate of 26.5 %, taking into
consideration the solidarity surcharge of 5.5 % and trade tax. The total tax burden is thus
around 40 %. 

The profits achieved by our companies outside Germany are taxed at the valid rates in
the respective countries. The tax rates applied in the various countries are between 10 %
and 42.5 %. 

Due to changing tax rates, the deferred-tax expense increased to €0.1 million. Tax reduc-
tions from the expected utilization of existing tax-loss carryforwards in an amount of 
€1.5 million are included in the deferred taxes. The realization of related tax-loss carry-
forwards is guaranteed with a reasonable degree of certainty. 

Tax-refund claims and provisions are netted off insofar as they relate to the same tax
authority and can be offset against each other. 

The income-tax expense shown for 2003 of €21.1 million (€19.9 million) is €0.9 million
higher than the theoretical tax expense of €20.8 million which would arise with the
application of the domestic tax rate of 40 %. 

The difference between the anticipated and the recognized income tax expenses is
attributable to the following causes: 

The Group’s tax rate without taking goodwill amortization into consideration is 34.4 %. 

2003 2002

Earnings before taxes 52.0 44.0

Theoretical tax expense (40 %) 20.8 17.1

Taxation rate differences –3.8 – 3.9

Goodwill amortization and other non-deductible items 7.3 7.1

Impairment of deferred tax assets 2.9 0.0

Tax-free income – 0.8 –1.4

Effect from tax losses for which no deferred tax 
assets had been formed – 6,7 – 0,9

Taxes for prior periods 0,5 – 0,2

Withholding taxes 1,1 1,1

Others – 0,2 1,0

Actual tax expense 21,1 19,9

Effective tax rate  [in %] 40,6 45,2



9 | Minority interests 

Of the profits due to third parties amounting to €1.2 million (€1.0 million), €0.2 million
are attributable to German minority interests, and €1.0 million to associates in China,
Brazil, Austria, Slovakia and Hungary. 

10 | Earnings per share 

Pursuant to IAS 33, the additional dividend of €0.17 per share to be distributed to the
preference shareholders is allotted in advance, the remaining part of the Group’s net profit
after minority interests is allotted to both types of share in equal amounts. 

For better comparability, prior-year figures have been converted to the number of shares
resulting from the share spilt of July 28, 2003. 

Diluted earnings per share are the same as undiluted earnings per share. 

11 | Other taxes 

The figures shown relate to non-income taxes of the Group’s companies abroad, which
are included in cost of sales, administration expenses, selling expenses and research and
development expenses. 
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2003 2002

Earnings after minority interests 29.7 23.1

Earnings per ordinary share in euros 

Earnings per share 4.03 3.15

Earnings per share before goodwill amortization 5.31 4.63

Weighted number of ordinary shares 3,672,658 3,649,263

Earnings per preference share in euros 

Earnings per share 4.21 3.32

Earnings per share before goodwill amortization 5.50 4.80

Weighted number of preference shares 3,549,590 3,515,007

2003 2002

6.0 5.4
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12 | Personnel expenses/employees 

The pension expense does not include the interest expenses from pension provisions
shown in the net financial result, amounting to €6.9 million (€7.1 million), nor does it
include income from plan assets for financing pension obligations. 

The average number of employees at the companies consolidated pro rata has been
incorporated in accordance with the respective proportion. The figure included is thus 
45 employees. 

Personnel expenses 2003 2002

Wages and salaries 144.5 150.7

Social-security costs and expenses for pensions 
and similar obligations 27.4 29.1

– thereof, for pensions 5.3 6.5

171.9 179.8

Employees [annual average] 2003 2002

Salaried staff 2,768 2,667

Wage-earners 1,420 1,433

4,188 4,100



(Amounts in € million, unless otherwise stated) 

13 | Non-current assets 

The composition of the items of fixed assets grouped together in the balance sheet and
their development in 2003 are shown in the schedule of fixed assets on pages 90 and 91. 

The figure for fixed assets also includes leased assets (finance lease). This essentially relates
to an office building in Mannheim and a production building in Haan with a total book
value of €7.1 million. In addition, leased vehicles and IT equipment are also included in
technical equipment and machines (€0.2 million) and in other equipment (€2.1 million).
Details of the minimum lease payments for the leasing agreements involved are listed on
page 124. 

The figure for fixed assets includes impairments totaling €2.8 million for 2003. Thereof, 
€2.1 million relates to land and buildings, €0.4 million to technical equipment, and €0.3

million to other equipment. The charges are included in the various cost items as follows: 

NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET 
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Cost of sales 1.9

Selling and distribution costs 0.5

Research and development expenses 0.1

Administration costs 0.3

Total 2.8
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14 | Goodwill

Acquired goodwill is capitalized in conformity with IAS 22, and subjected to scheduled
amortization over 20 years using the straight-line method in accordance with future eco-
nomic benefits. The value of goodwill is examined as specified by IAS 36. Where necessary,
appropriate impairments are recognized. 

Of the goodwill shown amounting to €87.3 million (€106.1 million), €61.8 million (€73.3

million) is from capital consolidation and €25.5 million (€32.8 million) from the company
financial statements of the subsidiaries. In the 2003 financial year, goodwill impairments
for European and Asian companies totaled €10.0 million (€4.3 million). 

Existing badwill of €4.7 million which had been offset against goodwill was fully written
back in 2003 affecting net income. 

Goodwill from Company financial Capital 
statements consolidation Total

Historical acquisition costs 

Brought forward on January 1, 2003 56.5 121.8 178.3

Currency translation differences – 6.9 –1.6 – 8.5

Additions  0.6 0.6 1.2

Disposals/changes in consolidated Group – 0.4 4.1 3.7

Reclassifications – 0.4 0.4 0.0

Balance on December 31, 2003 49.4 125.3 174.7

Accumulated amortization 

Brought forward on January 1, 2003 –23.7 – 48.5 –72.2

Currency-translation differences 2.9 0.7 3.6

Additions  –3.6 –15.7 –19.3

Disposals/changes in consolidated Group 0.4 0.1 0.5

Reclassifications 0.1 – 0.1 0.0

Balance on December 31, 2003 –23.9 – 63.5 – 87.4

Net book value at December 31, 2003 25.5 61.8 87.3



15 | Financial assets

These items essentially comprise shares in associated companies, other participating inter-
ests, shares in non-consolidated subsidiaries, and lendings. 

For the valuation of equity in the associated companies, the Group’s share of the equity
capital was determined on the basis of the financial statements prepared in accordance
with national law. 

The difference between purchase cost and the Group’s share of equity capital amounting
to €12.6 million has been included as goodwill in the figures shown for holdings in associ-
ated companies. Goodwill amortization has been carried out in conformity with IAS 22

on a straight-line basis, over a useful life of 20 years. In 2003, goodwill amortization amount-
ed to €0.6 million; in addition a goodwill impairment of €4.0 million was recognized.
Goodwill at the end of the year was €3.8 million (€8.4 million). 

16 | Inventories 

In the year under review, writedowns of €0.4 million were carried out affecting the state-
ment of income due to reduced salability. Inventories comprise the following: 

17 | Trade receivables 

In the year under review, write-downs and impairments of receivables were recognized
in an amount of €4.7 million; income from the retransfer of impairments amounts to 
€0.5 million. Trade receivables include impairments totaling €10.9 million (€10.4 million)
reflecting recognizable risks.
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Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002

Receivables due from affiliated companies 0.3 0.3

– thereof with a maturity of over 1 year 0.0 0.0

Receivables due from associated companies 0.3 0.4

– thereof with a maturity of over 1 year 0.0 0.0

Receivables due from other companies 169.6 168.9

– thereof with a maturity of over 1 year 0.0 0.3

170.2 169.6

Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002

Raw materials and supplies 49.2 53.4

Work in progress 6.6 5.8

Finished goods and merchandise 70.7 73.6

126.5 132.8
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18 | Other receivables and other assets 

The Group’s other assets include refund claims from value added taxes amounting to 
€2.5 million as well as customer loans in connection with long-term delivery agreements
in France in the amount of €9.0 million. Moreover, the item contains rental and leasing
advance payments and other prepaid expenses. 

19 | Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents of €29.4 million (€13.4 million) comprise cash in hand and cash
at banks with a maturity of less than three months. 

20 | Deferred tax assets 

The total amount shown for deferred tax assets of €7.2 million principally includes devia-
tions attributable to valuation differences between the IFRS balance sheet and the tax
balance sheet in the items relating to inventories (elimination of intercompany profits),
pension obligations and other provisions. It also includes tax reduction claims of €1.5 mil-
lion arising from the expected utilization of existing loss carryforwards in subsequent years.
Realization of these losses reasonably certain. Loss carryforwards for which a deferred
tax asset has not been recognized amount to €35.6 million. 

Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002

Receivables due from affiliated companies 0.0 0.0

– hereof with a maturity of over 1 year 0.0 0.0

Receivables due from associated companies 0.3 0.0

– thereof with a maturity of over 1 year 0.0 0.0

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 7.8 7.6

Tax receivables 3.7 9.4

Miscellaneous assets 26.0 28.6

– thereof with a maturity of over 1 year 0.3 3.6

37.8 45.6



21 | Shareholders’ equity 

Subscribed capital 

The subscribed capital of FUCHS PETROLUB AG developed as follows: 

Consisting of 
3,930,000 ordinary shares at €9 = €35,370,000

3,930,000 preference shares at €9 = €35,370,000

In accordance with the resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on June 5,
2003, the capital stock was increase from the company’s funds by converting a part amount
of €2.4 million from the capital reserve into capital stock. The increased capital stock was
reorganized; each ordinary share was replaced by three ordinary shares and each prefer-
ence share was replaced by three preference shares (3:1 share spilt). 

Due to the authorization granted by the resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
held on June 12, 2002, with the consent of the Supervisory Board the Executive Board
resolved on November 24, 2003 to increase the capital stock by €5.0 million and then on
December 10, 2003 by €1.2 million to the present level of €70.7 million. The capital
increase was carried our and entered in the commercial register on December 12, 2003.
The amounts realized via the increase in capital stock totaling €20.0 million were added
to the capital reserve of FUCHS PETROLUB AG. In accordance with the regulations of IAS

32, the costs of raising capital of €1.1 million were deducted from this amount, so that an
addition to the Group’s reserves of €18.9 million is shown. 

Due to the authorization granted by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of July 6, 2000

and of June 12, 2002, on December 31, 2003, after the capital increases carried out during
the year, there was an authorized capital of €24.8 million, comprising: 

Authorized capital Ia has a term until June 30, 2005, authorized capital IIIa has a term until
June 12, 2007. The authorization of July 6, 2000 to issue new ordinary and/or preference
shares without voting rights has not yet been made use of; the authorization of June 12,
2002 was made use of in 2003 in the amount of €6.2 million. 
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Authorized capital Ia 16.6

Authorized capital IIIa 8.2

24.8

Balance at December 31, 2002 62.1

Capital increase from own funds 2.4

Ordinary capital increase 6.2

Balance at December 31, 2003 70.7
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Group reserves

This item comprises the Group’s capital reserves and retained earnings. Developments in
the business year are shown in the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, where a
separate presentation is made between the capital reserves of FUCHS PETROLUB AG and
the equity capital earned by the Group. Both items together correspond with the Group’s
reserves in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Group profits

The Group’s profits correspond with the Group’s net income for the year after minority
interests. 

Minority interests

This item contains the share of equity capital held by third parties and the earnings of the
consolidated subsidiaries. €0.4 million is accounted for by associates in Germany and €4.8

million by associates in China, Brazil, Austria, Slovakia and Hungary. 

Voting-rights majority 

RUDOLF FUCHS GMBH & CO KG notified us of the following in a letter of December 31, 1986:
“We hereby announce that as of December 31, 1986, we own the majority of the voting
rights in your company.“ 

22 | Participation-right certificates

As a result of a resolution by the Annual General Meeting on July 2, 1998, a nominal total
of €51.1 million (equivalent to DM 100 million ) bearer participation-right certificates were
issued by FUCHS PETROLUB AG in August 1998. The issue price was 100 % and the dividend
rate was set at 7.29 % per annum. The term of the participation-right certificates ends on
December 31, 2007. Repayment will take place on the first bank working day after the
2008 Annual Shareholders Meeting, however, not before August 1, 2008. 

The participation-right certificates with securities identification number 551831 have
been admitted for official trading at the stock exchange. 

23 | Provisions for pensions

Pension provisions are recognized for obligations arising from vested rights to future
pensions payments and from ongoing benefits paid to former employees of the FUCHS

PETROLUB Group and their surviving dependants. In the group, the company pension
systems are financed by provisions and pension funds, the pension plans are defined-
contribution arrangements as well as defined-benefit arrangements. Especially for
employees of domestic group companies, the pension system is based on defined benefits.
These benefits are regularly determined according to the duration of employment and
remuneration, and are financed by provisions. Pension systems of foreign group companies
are in some cases based on defined-contribution arrangements, but are predominantly
fund-financed with defined-benefit commitments.  



The provisions to be formed are determined in conformity with IAS 19, with valuation
based on actuarial expertises. The provisions are calculated by using the “projected-unit-
credit method”. Besides the basic biometric data and the current long-term capital-marked
interest rate, assumptions on future salary and pension increases are also factored in. 
For the basic biometric data, the guideline tables prepared by Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck in
1998 are used in Germany. 

For Germany, the following valuation premises are assumed: 

The obligations of foreign group companies are determined in consideration of the
country-specific accounting regulations and parameters involved, using discount factors
of 1.5 % to 6.5 %, salary trends of 3.0 % to 4.0 % and pension trends of 2.5 % to 3.0 %.
The anticipated interest rate on plan assets was between 1.5 % and 9.0 %. 

Considering this calculation basis, we obtain the following funding status for the pension
obligations: 

Plan assets consist solely of financial assets. The actual return on fund assets amounted to
11.5 %. 
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Funding status Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002 

Present value of pension benefits covered by provisions 51.9 49.1

Present value of funded pension benefits 81.3 81.4

Fair value of plan assets 59.7 59.6

Net obligation 73.5 70.9

Actuarial gains (+) and losses (–) not yet recognized –17.3 –18.8

Similar obligations 0.8 4.0

Balance-sheet value at December 31 57.0 56.1

Amount not recognized as an asset because of the limit in IAS 19.58 0.0 0.0

[in %] 2003 2002

Discount rate 5.50 5.75

Salary level trend 3.0 3.0

Pension level trend 1.8 2.0
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Actuarial gains and losses are only recognized as income or expenses as long as their net
cumulative amount exceeds 10 % of the obligations. In this case, the portion exceeding
10 % of the obligations is recognized over the average remaining working lives of the
relevant employees. 

In the FUCHS PETROLUB Group, the pension provision system entailed pension expenses
amounting to €8.5 million (€9.5 million), comprising the following components: 

The pension expenses are distributed among the following items of the income statement: 

Pension expenses 2003 2002

Cost of sales 0.9 0.9

Research and development expenses 0.4 0.4

Selling and distribution costs 1.3 1.5

Administration costs 2.6 3.1

Other operating income 0.0 0.0

Other operating expenses 0.0 0.4

Financial result 3.3 3.2

8.5 9.5

2003 2002

Current service cost 2.8 3.0

Interest expense 6.9 7.1

Expected return on plan assets –3.6 –3.9

Actuarial gains and losses 1.7 2.0

Past service costs 0.2 0.8

Effects of plan settlements 0.0 0.0

Expenses for defined-benefit pension plans 8.0 9.0

Expenses for defined-contribution pension plans 0.5 0.5

Total pension expenses 8.5 9.5



The balance sheet development of the net obligation is shown below: 

24 | Other provisions 

The other provisions mainly comprise: 

The obligations arising from personnel and social expenses relate to provisions for bonuses
and profit-sharing schemes, and also to part-time working arrangements for older employ-
ees in the amount of €7.1 million. The obligations arising from on-going operational
expenses include provisions for credit notes, bonuses, discounts, warranties, and costs for
the annual financial statements and consultancy services. The other obligations include
provisions for restructuring and reorganization (€7.9 million). Furthermore, the figure
includes provisions for impending losses from open contracts, contract risks, contribution
obligations and obligations for returning containers subject to deposit. 
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Net obligation  2003 2002

Balance-sheet amount at January 1 56.1 39.0

Addition due to change in the consolidated group 0.1 18.6

Pension expenses 8.5 9.5

Pension payments made and transfers to external funds –7.7 –11.0

Balance-sheet amount at December 31 57.0 56.1

Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002

Taxes 8.6 6.8

– Obligations for personnel and social expenses 25.5 26.4

– Obligations for on-going operational expenses 12.9 12.7

– Other obligations 15.0 12.5

62.0 58.4
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The provisions changed during the year as follows: 

Dec. 31, 2002 Currency Changes in the Additions Utilizations Retransfers Dec. 31, 2003
exchange consolidated 

differences group

Taxes 6.8 – 0.2 0.0 12.9 6.4 4.5 8.6

Obligations for personnel 
and social expenses 26.4 – 0.5 0.1 19.8 19.5 0.8 25.5

Obligations for on-going 
operational expenses 12.7 – 0.4 0.0 14.1 12.2 1.3 12.9

Other obligations 12.5 – 0.6 0.1 14.7 8.7 3.0 15.0

58.4 –1.7 0.2 61.5 46.8 9.6 62.0

Dec. 31, 2001 Currency Changes in the Additions Utilizations Retransfers Dec. 31, 2002
exchange consolidated

differences group

Taxes 5.9 – 0.3 0.0 6.7 5.5 0.0 6.8

Obligations for personnel 
and social expenses 17.5 –1.0 3.8 22.0 15.1 0.8 26.4

Obligations for on-going 
operational expenses 9.5 – 0.3 1.5 12.0 8.8 1.3 12.6

Other obligations 9.8 – 0.4 1.2 10.7 8.5 0.2 12.6

42.7 –2.0 6.5 51.4 37.9 2.3 58.4



25 | Liabilities 

The maturities of the Group’s liabilities break down as follows: 

The individual liabilities categories are explained as follows. 
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December 31, 2003 Maturity up to 1– 5 years More than Total
one year 5 years

Financial liabilities 33.4 150.1 4.7 188.2

Trade liabilities 85.7 0.0 0.0 85.7

Other liabilities 45.5 0.1 0.0 45.6

164.6 150.2 4.7 319.5

31.12.2002 Maturity up to 1– 5 years More than Total
one year 5 years

Financial liabilities 69.3 192.1 5.9 267.3

Trade liabilities 79.5 0.0 0.0 79.5

Other liabilities 46.5 0.2 0.0 46.7

195.3 192.3 5.9 393.5
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26 | Financial liabilities 

All interest bearing obligations of the FUCHS PETROLUB Group are shown under financial
liabilities. They comprise: 

The bonds are fixed-interest bonds issued by FUCHS PETROLUB FINANCE B.V., Amsterdam,
the Netherlands on May 24, 2000 (6.375 %). The bonds were issued in a volume of €100.0

million and at an issue price of 99.63 %. Due to the Group’s good liquidity, the issuer
reacquired various tranches of these bonds during 2003 in a nominal volume of €34.0

million. The bonds are to be redeemed on June 14, 2005 and are guaranteed by FUCHS

PETROLUB AG, Mannheim. The bond liability shown is based on a nominal volume of €66.0

million, which is partially valued at the price on the balance-sheet date within the con-
text of hedge accounting (fair value hedge). 

Liabilities to banks of €1.4 million (€2.2 million) are secured by liens and mortgages. 

Other financial liabilities also include the obligations carried as liabilities from finance
leases in an amount of €8.3 million (€9.8 million) and comprise two finance-lease agree-
ments for buildings. This is the present value of payment obligations resulting from
future leasing installments. For discounting the minimum lease payments, interest rates
of between 5 % and 19 % were used. 

December 31, 2003 Maturity up to 1– 5 years More than Total
one year 5 years 

Bonds 0.0 68.0 0.0 68.0

Liabilities to banks 32.0 79.9 0.0 111.9

Other financial liabilities 1.4 2.2 4.7 8.3

33.4 150.1 4.7 188.2

December 31, 2002 Maturity up to 1–5 years More than Total
one year 5 years 

Bonds 0.0 100.0 0.0 100.0

Liabilities to banks 67.7 89.8 0.0 157.5

Other financial liabilities 1.6 2.3 5.9 9.8

69.3 192.1 5.9 267.3



The maturities of financial liabilities breaks down as follows: 

27 | Trade payables 

Trade payables are generally shown at their nominal value; long-term liabilities are dis-
counted to their present values. Liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rate on the balance-sheet date. 
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2004 33.4

2005 76.2

2006 70.9

2007 1.2

2008 1.8

after 2008 4.7

188.2

December 31, 2003 Maturity up to 1– 5 years More than Total
one year 5 years 

Trade liabilities 78.2 0.0 0.0 78.2

Bills payable 6.2 0.0 0.0 6.2

Liabilities to companies in 
which shares are held 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Liabilities to subsidiaries and 
associated companies 1.3 0.0 0.0 1.3

85.7 0.0 0.0 85.7

December 31, 2002 Maturity up to 1– 5 years More than Total
one year 5 years 

Trade liabilities 73.3 0.0 0.0 73.3

Bills payable 6.2 0.0 0.0 6.2

Liabilities to companies in 
which shares are held 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Liabilities to subsidiaries and 
associated companies 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

79.5 0.0 0.0 79.5
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28 | Other liabilities 

The following is a breakdown of other liabilities: 

Miscellaneous other liabilities include financing liabilities of €5.5 million connected with
a long-term customer loan in France shown under other assets. In addition, the participa-
tion-rights remuneration of €3.7 million falling due on August 1, 2004 and liabilities from
the interest accrual of the euro bonds of €2.9 million, as well as commission obligations,
customers’ accounts in credit and prepaid income and accrued expenses are shown here. 

29 | Deferred tax liabilities 

Deferred-tax liabilities arise primarily due to temporary valuation differences between
IFRS accounting and tax accounting in the field of fixed assets. 

December 31, 2003 Maturity up to 1– 5 years More than Total
one year 5 years 

Taxes payable 5.9 0.0 0.0 5.9

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 4.8 0.0 0.0 4.8

Social security 5.0 0.0 0.0 5.0

Employees 2.3 0.0 0.0 2.3

Miscellaneous other liabilities 27.5 0.1 0.0 27.6

45.5 0.1 0.0 45.6

December 31, 2002 Maturity up to 1– 5 years More than Total
one year 5 years 

Taxes payable 7.0 0.0 0.0 7.0

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 8.8 0.0 0.0 8.8

Social security 5.0 0.0 0.0 5.0

Employees 1.5 0.0 0.0 1.5

Miscellaneous other liabilities 24.2 0.2 0.0 24.4

46.5 0.2 0.0 46.7



30 | Joint ventures 

Joint ventures consolidated pro rata are included in the consolidated financial statements
with the following values: 

31 | Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations 

On the balance-sheet date, contingent liabilities and other financial obligations were as
follows: 
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Contingencies Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002

Bills of exchange 0.1 0.0

Guaranties 1.9 3.7

– thereof, in favor of subsidiaries 0.0 1.7

– thereof, in favor of joint ventures or companies in which shares are held 1.9 2.0

Securing third-party liabilities 13.8 14.7

2003 2002

Non-current assets 2.7 3.1

Inventories and receivables 5.7 3.4

Other current assets 1.8 1.7

Assets 10.2 8.2

Shareholders’ equity 4.2 3.0

Provisions 1.0 0.9

Financial liabilities 2.2 2.6

Other borrowings 2.8 1.7

Capital 10.2 8.2

Income 19.3 12.6

Expenses –19.1 –11.9
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Leasing agreements 

The group has primarily entered into leasing agreements for rental or operating leases
of a high-bay warehouse, a production plant, motor vehicles, fork-lift trucks, IT hardware
and software. 

The following overview shows the nominal value of future minimum leasing payments as
of December 31, 2003 for operating leases, broken down by their maturities: 

For the period under review, rental and leasing payments amounted to €10.0 million 
(€10.8 million). 

In addition to the operating-lease obligations, there were other financial obligations 
(IT-maintenance etc.) in an amount of €0.5 million (€0.6 million). 

32 | Financial instruments  

At the FUCHS PETROLUB Group, the application of and competencies for applying deriva-
tive financial instruments are laid down in a binding form in internal guidelines and lim-
ited to the Group Treasury of FUCHS PETROLUB AG. The two-person principle guarantees
adequate functional separation between trading and processing. All derivative transac-
tions are concluded with banks of extremely high financial standing. The risk of default
by the contracting parties (credit risk) is thus minimized. 

Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002
Operating leases Operating leases

Up to 1 year 7.9 8.3

1 to 5 years 14.2 11.5

More than 5 years 14.7 18.1

Total of minimum leasing payments 36.8 37.9



On the balance-sheet date, there were the following derivative financial items, broken
down by residual term: 

The nominal volume is the total of all buying and selling amounts of the interest-rate
and currency derivatives. The nominal amounts generally correspond with the volumes
of the underlying hedged transactions. 

The existing interest-rate swaps serve to secure our financing and interest-rate strategy.
In consequence, there are both swap agreements from variable to fixed interest rates as
well as the reverse – from fixed to variable interest rates. During 2003, in response to the
reduced borrowing requirement, the interest-rate structure was also adjusted, usually by
rescinding existing derivative agreements. 

The derivatives entered into by the FUCHS PETROLUB Group serve approximately equally
to secure future cash flows (cash-flow hedges) and to secure receivables and liabilities
(fair-value hedges). Changes in the market value of our cash-flow hedges are usually
reflected in shareholders’ equity, as the congruence of the underlying transactions and
the hedging transactions is high (the derivatives are effective). 

To a limited extent (€12.7 million), forward currency transactions were entered into not
to secure intra-company receivables and liabilities, but to secure future (anticipated)
transactions. This type of hedging (cash-flow hedges) is used only when there is a high
probability of the planned transaction (e. g., the purchase of input materials) will be
implemented within the next 12 months. 

Insofar as fair-value hedges are used, i.e., pure hedging of a value change in an asset or
liability, the change in the derivative’s market value is included in the statement of income;
the asset or liability is also assessed at market values. 
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Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002

Up to 1 to 5 Over Up to 1 to 5 Over
1 year years 5 years Total 1 year years 5 years Total 

Interest-rate caps and other
interest-rate options – – – – – 20.4 – 20.4

Interest-rate swaps 1.9 112.7 – 114.6 – 159.4 51.1 210.5

Interest-rate and 
currency swaps 1.6 26.9 – 28.5 – 30.7 – 30.7

Forward currency 
transactions 39.5 – – 39.5 37.0 – – 37.0

Nominal volume of 
derivatives 43.0 139.6 – 182.6 37.0 210.5 51.1 298.6
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The market values of the derivative financial instruments were as follows: 

Changes in the market value of derivative financial instruments increased earnings by 
€2.7 million. Correspondingly, expenses are recorded from changes in the market value
of the original financial instruments (underlying transactions), so that on balance and 
in line with our hedging strategy, there were only negligible effects on the statement of
income. 

The Group’s interest-bearing liabilities, consisting of financial liabilities and participation-
right certificates (see notes 26 and 22), are secured against the risk of interest-rate move-
ments. The resulting interest-rate hedging structure is as follows: 

Considering the effects of the derivatives with a foreign-currency component, 65 % of
financial liabilities are in euros, about 12 % are in US dollars and about 13 % in British pounds.
Financial liabilities in other currencies make up around 10 % of the total volume. 

Market value as of December 31, 2003 Nominal Market value Factored into Factored into 
Instrument amount (net) the income equity capital 

statement 

Interest-rate caps and other 
interest-rate options – – – –

Interest-rate swaps 114.6 –2.2 +2.5 – 4.7

Interest-rate and currency swaps 28.5 +3.9 – +3.9

Forward currency transactions 39.5 +1.3 +0.2 +1.1

Total derivatives 182.6 +3.0 +2.7 +0.3

Market value as of December 31, 2002 Nominal Market value  Factored into Factored into 
Instrument amount (net) the income equity capital 

statement  

Interest-rate caps and other 
interest-rate options 20.4 – – –

Interest-rate swaps 210.5 – 3.1 +0.4 – 3.5

Interest-rate and currency swaps 30.7 +1.3 – +1.3

Forward currency transactions 37.0 + 0.6 – +0.6

Total derivatives 298.6 –1.2 +0.4 –1.6

Interest-rate hedging periods 2003 2002
€ million % € million %

Up to 1 year 103.0 43.0 117.0 36.7

1 to 5 years 131.3 54.9 144.4 45.4

Over 5 years 5.0 2.1 57.0 17.9

239.3 100.0 318.4 100.0
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33 | Notes on the statement of cash flows 

The statement of cash flows shows how the cash and cash equivalents of the FUCHS

PETROLUB Group have changed in the course of the year as a result of cash inflows and
outflows. In accordance with IAS 7 (Cash Flow Statements), cash flows are classified into
cash flows from, or into, operating, investing and financing activities. 

Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement of cash flows comprise cash in hand,
cash at banks, checks and marketable securities. 

The gross cash flow and the cash flow from operating activities are indirectly calculated
from the statement of incomes. With this method, the underlying changes in balance-sheet
items are adjusted for currency-translation effects and for changes in the consolidated
group. The changes in the relevant balance-sheet items therefore do not agree with the
amounts shown in the corresponding balance-sheet items. The cash flows from/into
investing and financing activities are determined on the basis of actual payments. 

Of the cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period, €1.7 million (€1.6 million) is
from pro-rata consolidated companies. 

34 | Notes on the segment reporting 

Segment reporting is according to the geographical regions reflecting the FUCHS PETROLUB

Group’s internal organization and internal reporting structure. In accordance with the
provisions of IAS 14 (Segment Reporting), this structure is oriented towards internal man-
agement and reporting and takes into consideration the various risk and earnings struc-
tures of the business divisions. In line with internal management, the regions are defined
as Europe, North and South America, and Asia-Pacific and Africa. The individual business-
es are allocated to the segments according to the regions they belong to. 

The segment assets of the Europe and Asia-Pacific, Africa segments include associated
companies with book values of €1.9 million and €7.1 million respectively. 

The secondary reporting format reflects the Group’s product segments, i. e. automotive
lubricants, industrial lubricants and specialties, and other products. The product segment
of automotive lubricants consists mainly of engine oil, gear oil and shock-absorber fluid.
Industrial lubricants and specialties comprise hydraulic oils, metal-working fluids, corrosion
protection, greases and other specialties. Other products include polishing technology,
job production, chemical management, base-oil trading and other activities. 
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The segment information is fundamentally based on the same accounting and valuation
methods as the consolidated financial statements. Receivables and liabilities, income and
expenses and profits between the segments are eliminated in the reconciliation. The
reconciliation of segment data to the total amounts for the group is given in the column,
“Holding companies including consolidation“. This includes not only the depreciation,
earnings, assets and liabilities of the companies of the group, but also the inter-segment
eliminations with regard to sales revenues. Intra-group revenues and transfers take place
at arm’s length prices. 

The segment assets and segment liabilities include assets and liabilities which have con-
tributed towards achieving the segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT). 

The segments’ overall performance is presented in the financial report on pages 88 and
89. 

Relationships with related parties 

The related parties of the FUCHS PETROLUB Group within the meaning of IAS 24 are
basically the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, plus RUDOLF FUCHS GMBH & CO.,
the asset-management company through which most of the Fuchs family’s ordinary stock
is held, and its full partner, FUCHS INTEROIL GMBH. 

Goods and services provided to related parties was invoiced at the same conditions as
among independent third parties (arm’s length principle). 

A dependent-company report has been prepared on relationships with related parties
pursuant to Section 312 of the German Stock Corporation Law (AktG) with the conclud-
ing declaration: “With the legal transactions listed in the dependent-companies report,
in accordance with the circumstances known to us on the date that the respective trans-
actions were performed, our company received a reasonable consideration in each
transaction. No actions subject to disclosure occurred on the instructions or in the inter-
est of the controlling company.“ The independent auditors of FUCHS PETROLUB AG,
KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, has examined
this dependent-company report and provided it with an unqualified audit certificate. 



Details of the corporate boards 

The members of the Executive Board are: 

Dr. Manfred Fuchs
Chairman (until December 31, 2003) 

Stefan Fuchs
Chairman (from January 1, 2004) 

Dr. Alexander Selent
Deputy Chairman (from January 1, 2004)

L. Frank Kleinman 
(from January 1, 2004)

Dr. Georg Lingg
Deputy member (from January 1, 2004)

Ingo Pauler
(until December 31, 2003) 

The members of the Supervisory Board are: 

Dr. Bernd H. Müller-Berghoff
Chairman (until June 6, 2003) 

Prof. Dr. Jürgen Strube
Chairman (from June 6, 2003) 

Dr. Manfred Fuchs
Deputy Chairman (from January 1, 2004) 

Hans-Georg Pohl
Deputy Chairman (until December 31, 2003) 

Hans-Joachim Fenzke
Employee representative 

Prof. Dr. Bernd Gottschalk

Prof. Dr. Dr. h. c. mult. Otto H. Jacobs

Heinz Thoma
Employee representative 

In accordance with Section 285, No. 10 of the HGB, the details of the board members’
memberships of other supervisory boards are listed in the Organization section on pages
26 to 29 of this Annual Report. 
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The variable compensation of the Executive Board is based on profit and project incen-
tives. The profit incentives are based on the Group’s total return on capital, whereas the
project incentives are oriented towards individual agreed targets and their extent of
attainment. 

Shares held by the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 

At December 31, 2003, Dr. Manfred Fuchs held, directly and indirectly, 1,017,422 ordinary
shares. The other members of the Executive Board together held 4,704 ordinary shares
and no preference shares. The Supervisory Board held 3,435 ordinary shares and 7,862

preference shares. 

Share options do not exist. 

Corporate Governance Code 

FUCHS PETROLUB AG has issued the declaration of compliance pursuant to Section 161 of
the German Stock Corporation Law and has rendered it permanently accessible to the
shareholders at http://www.fuchs-oil.de/index.php/cg_reports/0/

Events after the balance sheet date 

In November 2003, through its French subsidiary the group reached an agreement with
Parker Hannifin on the acquisition of its industrial lubricant business in France under the
brand name of WYNN’S. After the approval of the antitrust authorities was granted, the
transaction took effect in February 2004. WYNN’S industrial lubricant business generates
annual sales revenues of €22.6 million with 76 employees. Apart from the customer base,
know-how and net current assets were also acquired. The business will be consolidated
in February 2004. 

Compensation of the Executive Board 
and the Supervisory Board [€ thousand] 2003 2002

Compensation of the Executive Board 1,953 1,607

– thereof fixed compensation 1,079 972

– thereof variable compensation 874 635

Compensation of the Supervisory Board 162 146

– fixed compensation 82 72

– variable compensation 80 74

Total compensation of former board members 89 176

Pension provisions for former members of the Executive Board 3,635 1,146

Compensation of the Advisory Board 52 52



We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by FUCHS PETROLUB

AKTIENGEELLSCHAFT, Mannheim, comprising the statement of income, balance sheet,
statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, statement of cash flows and the notes to
the FUCHS PETROLUB consolidated financial statements from January 1 to December 31,
2003. The preparation and content of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) are the responsibility of the com-
pany’s Executive Board. Our task is to give an assessment of the consolidated financial
statements on the basis of the audit conducted. 

We have conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with the German audit regulations and in compliance with the German principles for the
proper auditing of financial statements promulgated by the German Institute for Audit-
ing (IDW), and in additional compliance with the International Standards on Auditing
(ISA). These standards require that the audit be planned and performed in such a way
that it can be assessed with sufficient certainty whether the consolidated financial state-
ments are free from significant inaccuracies. Knowledge of the business activities and 
the economic and legal environment of the group and expectations of possible errors are
taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The evidence supporting
the valuations and the particulars given in the consolidated financial statements are
assessed on a random-sampling basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes
assessing the accounting principles used, and significant estimates made by legal repre-
sentatives, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements. We are of the opinion that our audit constitutes a sufficiently solid founda-
tion for our assessment. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements provide a true and accurate picture
of the Group’s net worth, financial position and results, and of the payment flows in the
business year under review, in conformity with the International Financial Reporting
Standards. 

Our audit, which also covered the group management report prepared by the Executive
Board for the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2003, has not led to any
reservations. In our opinion, the group management report gives overall a true and fair
view of the Group’s situation, and accurately depicts the risks involved in future develop-
ments. We also confirm that the consolidated financial statements and the group man-
agement report for the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2003, meet the
preconditions for the company’s exemption from preparing consolidated financial state-
ments and a group management report in accordance with German law. 

Mannheim, March 26, 2004

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

von Hohnhorst Heublein
Auditor Auditor

AUDITORS’ CERTIFICATE 
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF FUCHS PETROLUB AG 
INCOME STATEMENT

[€ million] 2003 2002

Investment income 84.4 46.5

Administration costs –20.7 –22.7

Other operating income 17.8 21.1

Other operating expenses –3.8 –2.9

14.0 18.2

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 77.7 42.0

Net financial income/expense – 44.5 –20.5

Earnings from ordinary business activities 33.2 21.5

Taxes on income and earnings –1.0 –1.0

Remuneration for participation-right certificates –3.7 –3.7

Net income for the year 28.5 16.8

Retained earnings brought forward 14.6 8.9

Transfer to other retained earnings –14.2 0.0

Unappropriated profit 28.9 25.7
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[€ million] 31.12.2003 31.12.2002

Assets

Intangible assets 0.3 0.9

Property, plant and equipment 0.8 0.6

Financial assets 348.3 424.7

Fixed assets 349.4 426.2

Receivables due from affiliated companies 42.1 52.9

Other receivables and other assets 1.3 0.6

Receivables and other assets 43.4 53.5

Cash and cash equivalents 0.0 0.2

Current assets 43.4 53.7

Prepaid expenses 0.3 0.3

393.1 480.2

Equity and liabilities 

Subscribed capital 70.7 62.1

Capital reserves 96.0 78.4

Retained earnings 26.9 12.6

Participation-right certificate capital 51.1 51.1

Unappropriated profit 28.9 25.7

Shareholders' equity 273.6 229.9

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 6.8 6.4

Other provisions 7.2 6.3

Provisions 14.0 12.7

Other liabilities 105.5 237.6

Liabilities 105.5 237.6

393.1 480.2
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The Executive Board will recommend to the Supervisory Board that it proposes the follow-
ing appropriation of profits to the 2004 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting (in €): 

PROPOSAL ON THE APPROPRIATION OF PROFITS 

Distribution of a dividend of €1.56 per ordinary share of the 
entitled ordinary-share capital of €35,370,000 6,130,800.00

Distribution of a dividend of €1.73 per preference share of the 
entitled preference-share capital of €35,370,000 6,798,900.00

Balance carried forward 15,962,665.55

Unappropriated profit (HGB) of FUCHS PETROLUB AG 28,892,365.55
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Germany Equity1) Share of Sales 
capital equity in 20031)

[€000s ] capital2) [€000s]
[%]

Lubricants and related specialty products 

BREMER & LEGUIL GMBH, Duisburg 240 100 16,326

FRAGOL SCHMIERSTOFF GMBH+CO. KG, Mülheim an der Ruhr 512 50 81,279

FUCHS EUROPE SCHMIERSTOFFE GMBH, Mannheim 10,000 100 248,582

FUCHS LUBRITECH GMBH, Weilerbach 2,583 100 48,533

PARAFLUID MINERALOELGESELLSCHAFT MBH, Hamburg 307 100 7,717

WISURA MINERALÖLWERK GOLDGRABE & SCHEFT GMBH & CO., Bremen 1,023 85 9,222

Polishing technology 

LIPPERT-UNIPOL GMBH, Epfenbach 5,721 100 14,908

International  Equity1) Share of Sales 
capital equity in 20031)

[€000s ] capital2) [€000s]
[%]

Lubricants and related specialty products 

ALHAMRANI-FUCHS PETROLEUM SAUDI ARABIA LTD., Jiddah, Saudi Arabia 6,200 32 82,486

FUCHS ARGENTINA S.A., El Talar de Pacheco, Argentina 168 100 5,255

FUCHS AUSTRIA SCHMIERMITTEL GMBH, Bergheim, Austria 1,236 70 9,713

FUCHS BELGIUM N.V., Huizingen, Belgium 4,700 100 21,857

FUCHS CORPORATION, Dover, Delaware, USA 1 100 174,387

– FUCHS LUBRICANTS CANADA LTD., Cambridge, Ontario, Canada 2,432 100 15,122

– FUCHS LUBRICANTS CO., Harvey, Illinois, USA 2 100 158,394

– LUBRICANTES FUCHS DE MEXICO S.A. DE C.V., Querétaro, Mexico 1,237 100 3,917

FUCHS DO BRASIL S.A., Sao Paulo, Brazil 1,324 61 12,665

FUCHS HELLAS S.A., Athens, Greece 1,562 97.37 3,553

FUCHS-KEWEI SPECIALTIES LUBRICANTS (HEFEI) LTD., Hefei, China 990 100 8,646

FUCHS LUBRIFIANTS FRANCE S.A., Nanterre, France 7,028 89.68 58,476

– ETABLISSEMENTS PRATE S.A., Lille, France 73 100 3,039

– FUCHS LABO AUTO S.A., Rueil-Malmaison, France 1,672 100 42,185

– FUCHS ILE DE FRANCE S.A., Aubergenville, France 239 100 3,817

FUCHS LUBRICANTES S.A., Castellbisbal, Spain 3,967 100 46,843

FUCHS LUBRICANTS (AUSTRALASIA) PTY. LTD., Sunshine-Melbourne, Australia 2,982 100 40,361

FUCHS LUBRICANTS (INDIA) PRIVATE LTD., Mumbai, India 2,445 100 7,354

3)
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International  Equity1) Share of Sales 
capital equity in 20031)

[€000s ] capital2) [€000s]
[%]

Lubricants and related specialty products 

FUCHS LUBRICANTS (KOREA) LTD., Seoul, South Korea 2,866 100 7,664

FUCHS LUBRICANTS (PHILIPPINES) INC., Metro Manila, Philippines 875 100 1,673

FUCHS LUBRICANTS (SHANGHAI) LTD., Nanxiang, Shanghai, China 4,079 100 22,439

FUCHS LUBRICANTS (SOUTH AFRICA) (PTY.) LTD., Johannesburg, South Africa 13 100 21,780

FUCHS LUBRICANTS (YINGKOU) LTD., Yingkou-City, China 2,403 100 26,248

FUCHS LUBRICANTS PTE. LTD., Singapore 3,622 100 5,136

FUCHS LUBRICANTS TAIWAN CORPORATION, Taipei, Taiwan 782 100 2,918

FUCHS LUBRIFICANTES, UNIPESSOAL, LDA., Maia, Portugal 2,370 100 6,101

FUCHS LUBRIFICANTI S.P.A., Buttigliera d’Asti, Italy 4,160 100 40,850

FUCHS MAZIVA D.O.O., Samobor, Croatia 713 100 5,494

FUCHS OIL CORPORATION (CZ) SPOL. S R.O., Prague, Czech Republic 46 100 5,814

FUCHS OIL CORPORATION (PL) SP. Z O.O., Gliwice, Poland 906 100  18,881

FUCHS OIL FINLAND OY, Vaasa, Finland 168 100 2,420

FUCHS-PETROCHEMA SPOL. S R.O., Dubová, Slovakia 146 51 2,938

FUCHS (UK) PLC., Stoke-on-Trent, Staffordshire, UK 2,832 100 116,444

– FUCHS LUBRICANTS (UK) PLC., Stoke-on-Trent, Staffordshire, UK 58 100 113,032

FUCHS LUBRITECH (UK) LTD., London, UK 319 100 7,191

MAKOTO-FUCHS K.K., Nara-ken, Japan 2,641 50 15,531

MOTOREX AG, Langenthal, Switzerland  160 50 9,888

Polishing technology 

LIPPERT-UNIPOL (UK) LTD., Birmingham, UK 1,416 100 3,363

LIPPERT-UNIPOL (P) LDA., Guimaraes, Portugal 748 100 2,916

LIPPERT ABRASIVES INC., Reynoldsburg, Ohio, USA 8 100 837

LIPPERT-UNIPOL (F) S.A.S., Val de Reuil, France 850 100 6,378

LIPPERT-UNIPOL (I) S.R.L., Bologna, Italy 103 100 3,170

1) Equity capital and sales revenues are each shown at 100 %. 
2) Related to the controlling parent company. 
3) The company owns 9.91% of its own shares 
4) Thereof, 5.59 % is held by FUCHS FINANZSERVICE GMBH, Mannheim, Germany.

4)
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Companies upon which a significant influence is exercised and in which less than 20 % of
the shares are held. 

Fixed-interest securities with fixed redemption dates in the form of bearer bonds/deben-
tures. 

Capital employed consists of equity capital, participation-right capital, interest-bearing
liabilities, pension provisions and accumulated goodwill write-offs at the end of the year,
after the deduction of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. 

The difference between income and expenditure in a reporting period. The gross cash
flow presented by the FUCHS PETROLUB Group in the Annual Report is a result of net
profit plus depreciation and amortization of fixed assets and changes in long-term provi-
sions. The gross cash flow is an indication of a company’s internal financial resources, which
are available for investment, financing net current assets, debt repayment, dividend
distributions and maintaining liquidity. 

The term used internationally for responsible management and supervision with a view
to long-term value creation. Corporate governance comprises the entire system of man-
aging and supervising a company, and includes the organization of the company, its
business-policy principles and guidelines, and all internal and external controlling and
monitoring mechanisms. 

Declaration by the Supervisory Board and Executive Board pursuant to Section 161 of the
German Stock Corporation Law concerning the implementation of the recommendations
of the German Corporate Governance Code. 

Deferred taxes serve to show tax expenses in the consolidated financial statements on an
accrual basis. 

Financial products whose own value is primarily derived from the price, price fluctuation
and price expectations of an underlying transaction, without this underlying transaction
having to be actually performed. Derivatives are used by the FUCHS PETROLUB Group solely
to limit exchange-rate and interest-rate risks from the operating business. 

Abbreviation for earnings before interest and taxes. Also excluding minority interests. 

Abbreviation for earnings before interest, taxes and goodwill amortization. Also exclud-
ing minority interests. 

Abbreviation for earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and goodwill amortization.
Also excluding minority interests.

EBIT in relation to revenues. 

Abbreviation for earnings before taxes. Also excluding minority interests. 

Corporate income-tax expense in relation to earnings before taxes. 

Associated
companies 

Bonds 

Capital employed 

Cash flow 

Corporate
governance  

Declaration of
compliance 

Deferred taxes 

Derivative financial
instruments 

EBIT 

EBITA  

EBITDA 

EBIT margin 

EBT 

Effective tax rate 

GLOSSARY
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Method of consolidation for including associated companies in the consolidated financial
statements. The Group’s ownership interest is entered as its share of these companies’
equity capital. Changes in such companies’ equity capital have an effect on the valuation
of the Group’s ownership interest, their net profit is included at-equity in the Group’s net
profit. 

Proportion of capital resources (= subscribed capital, reserves and accumulated other
capital) to the balance-sheet total. 

Abbreviation for International Accounting Standards. Accounting principles intended to
guarantee international harmonization and the comparability of financial statements
and disclosure. They are prepared by an international committee, the International
Accounting Standards Boards (IASB). 

Abbreviation for International Financial Reporting Standards. Formerly International
Accounting Standards (IAS). FUCHS PETROLUB prepares its consolidated financial state-
ments according to IAS/IFRS since 2002. 

The Group’s share in the profits distributed by affiliated companies and its share in the
profits earned by associated companies. 

Net profit in relation to shareholders’ equity. 

Net profit in relation to sales revenues. 

Abbreviation for return on capital employed (earnings before interest, taxes, goodwill
amortization and minority interests in relation to capital employed). 

Financial resources available to the issuer on a long-term basis. FUCHS PETROLUB has
issued fixed-interest participation-right certificates with a term ending on December 31,
2007. 

Companies managed together and with equal shares with other partners and associates
(joint ventures) are included in the consolidated financial statements proportionately
(pro rata), i.e. joint ventures are entered in the balance sheet and income statement only
in the amount of the proportion belonging to the FUCHS PETROLUB Group. 

Share index of German companies with a low market capitalization. The SDAX is thus 
the third value segment after the DAX (30 companies with a high market capitalization)
and the MDAX (50 companies with a medium market capitalization). The FUCHS PETROLUB

preference shares have been approved for the Prime Standard section of the German
Stock Exchange since January 1, 2003, and are included in the SDAX segment, which com-
prises 50 companies in total. 

Intensity of fluctuations in share prices, exchange rates and interest rates. 

Equity method 

Equity ratio 

IAS 

IFRS 

Investment income 

Return on equity 

Return on sales 

ROCE 

Participation-right
capital 

Proportionate
consolidation 

SDAX

Volatility 
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[amounts in € million] 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
IFRS IFRS IFRS HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB

Earnings

Sales revenues 1.040.9 1.064.7 940.0 902.0 834.0 789.3 787.4 692.1 669.1 676.0

Germany 249.8 264.9 183.8 170.1 201.3 218.8 225.0 212.5 214.0 228.2

International 791.1 799.8 756.2 731.9 632.7 570.5 562.4 479.6 455.1 447.8

Cost of materials 569.5 579.6 521.2 494.0 449.0 421.2 423.8 373.5 365.4 349.1

Gross profit 387.2 399.7 339.2 329.1 311.6 298.2 296.9 257.9 245.0 249.7

in % of sales revenues 37.2 37.5 36.1 36.5 37.4 37.8 37.7 37.3 36.6 36.9

Earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT) 75.1 70.0 50.5 56.9 55.1 41.1 48.5 43.0 44.4 44.9

in % of sales revenues 7.2 6.6 5.4 6.3 6.6 5.2 6.2 6.2 6.6 6.6

Financial result – 23.1 –26.0 –25.6 –16.5 –16.2 –16.3 –13.1 –13.3 –12.2 –12.6

Net income 30.9 24.1 8.8 18.5 17.1 6.2 18.2 14.5 14.3 15.5

in % of sales revenues 3.0 2.3 0.9 2.1 2.1 0.8 2.3 2.1 2.1 2.3

Earnings per share [in €]*) 4.03 3.15 1.10 2.36 2.22 0.66 2.33 1.43 1.43 1.67

Assets/Equity and liabilities

Non-current assets 264.8 312.5 349.4 315.5 310.5 325.8 347.5 267.6 246.3 256.0

Current assets 363.9 361.6 364.7 365.7 336.7 284.1 288.9 253.0 250.3 242.9

Total assets 635.9 678.4 719.6 681.2 647.2 609.9 636.4 520.6 496.6 498.9

Shareholders’ equity 137.7 110.1 120.6 165.8 163.9 196.5 166.2 143.6 129.2 136.2

in % of total assets 21.7 16.2 16.8 24.3 25.3 32.2 26.1 27.6 26.0 27.3

Return on equity [in%] 22.4 21.9 7.3 13.4 12.7 3.9 11.0 10.1 11.1 11.4

Provisions 119.0 114.5 81.7 75.3 85.4 76.9 86.0 74.9 71.0 74.5

Financial liabilities 188.2 267.3 324.5 313.0 273.4 246.1 304.4 227.6 222.3 213.6

in % of total assets 29.6 39.4 45.1 45.9 42.2 40.4 47.8 43.7 44.8 42.8

Gearing (net loan capital 
to equity capital) 1.15 2.31 2.47 1.78 1.57 1.15 1.71 1.47 1.53 1.37

Other liabilities 45.6 46.7 42.2 127.1 124.5 90.4 79.8 74.5 74.1 74.6

Financing

Cash earnings 79.6 76.2 50.3 49.3 48.7 37.5 44.1 36.5 35.0 38.9

Cash inflow from operating activities 89.1 78.5 60.1 11.5 49.0 35.8 27.4 31.3 21.4 41.0

Cash outflow from investing activities –11.5 –30.5 –39.4 –35.5 – 40.1 –24.0 –50.7 –55.2 –16.2 –27.5

Cash flow from financing activities – 60.3 – 60.0 –11.9 25.5 – 9.7 –18.4 27.2 13.3 – 5.8 – 8.1

Free cash flow 77.6 48.0 20.7 –24.0 8.9 11.8 –28.3 –23.9 5.3 13.5

Investments in property, plant 
and equipment 18.4 27.0 26.4 30.5 28.2 30.1 35.9 25.1 33.8 23.6

Germany 7.3 12.1 8.4 9.0 7.9 5.8 7.8 8.8 6.7 5.7

International 11.1 14.9 18.0 21.5 20.3 24.3 28.1 16.3 27.1 17.9

Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 25.5 28.3 25.1 24.4 24.3 25.7 20.8 18.2 16.8 19.1

in % of investments in P, P&E 138.0 104.8 95.1 80.0 86.2 85.4 57.9 72.5 49.7 80.9

FUCHS PETROLUB Group 
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2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
IFRS IFRS IFRS HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB

Employees

Number of employees 4,220 4,081 3,871 3,952 3,889 3,843 3,828 3,794 3,661 4,024

Germany 1,103 1,156 931 952 945 951 1,088 1,144 1,164 1,237

International 3,117 2,925 2,940 3,000 2,944 2,892 2,740 2,650 2,497 2,787

Personnel expenses 171.9 179.8 161.4 160.5 148.4 144.8 142.5 128.0 122.0 132.9

in % of sales revenues 16.5 16.9 17.2 17.8 17.8 18.3 18.1 18.5 18.2 19.7

Sales revenues per employee 
[in € thousand] 246.7 260.9 242.8 231.5 213.4 199.7 201.8 181.3 180.4 169.5

Research and development

Research and development 
expenditure 22.6 23.6 18.7 18.8 17.4 16.1 15.9 13.9 11.8 14.5

in % of sales revenues 2.2 2.2 2.0 2.1 2.1 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.8 2.1

[amounts in €] 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB HGB

Net income [in € million] 28.5 16.8 11.1 4.6 13.1 12.1 14.7 5.9 5.3 6.6

Dividend distribution [in € million] 12.9 11.0 9.8 9.8 9.1 9.1 8.9 5.4 5.1 4.3

Dividend per ordinary share*) 1.56 1.46 1.29 1.29 1.19 1.19 1.19 1.02 1.02 0.85

Tax credit*) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.03 0.0 0.19 0.28 0.25 0.36

Dividend per ordinary share 
including tax credit*) 1.56 1.46 1.29 1.29 1.22 1.19 1.38 1.30 1.27 1.21

Dividend per preference share*) 1.73 1.63 1.46 1.46 1.36 1.36 1.36 1.19 1.19 1.02

Tax credit*) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.04 0.0 0.21 0.33 0.29 0.44

Dividend per preference share 
including tax credit*) 1.73 1.63 1.46 1.46 1.40 1.36 1.57 1.52 1.48 1.46

Stock-exchange prices 
on December 31

Ordinary shares 47.8 70.2 65.5 59.1 61.5 90.5 107.6 94.6 86.9 117.6

Preference shares 43.8 70.5 62.9 57.3 57.5 74.1 108.9 74.9 74.6 83.6

Eurobonds 2000 –2005 [in %] 104.0 103.5 98.8 101.3 – – – – – –

Participation-right certificates 
1998–2008 [in %] 110.0 105.9 104.3 100.5 99.7 100.7 – – – –

FUCHS PETROLUB Group 

FUCHS PETROLUB AG

*) For better comparability, the prior year's figures have been converted to reflect the 3:1 share split of July 2003.
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Events 

–  Annual Results Press Conference, Mannheim 
–  DVFA Analysts’ Conference, Frankfurt/Main 

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, Mannheim 

Information Event for Swiss shareholders, Zurich 

First-Half Press Conference, Mannheim 

Financial Markets Conference, Magdeburg 

Interim Report January – September 2004

Quarterly Reports 

Interim Report January – March 2004

Interim Report January – June 2004

Interim Report January – September 2004

2004 Annual General Meeting 

The ordinary Annual Shareholders’ Meeting will be held on
June 9, 2004 at 10 a.m. in the Mozart Hall of the Rosengarten
Congress Center, Rosengartenplatz 2, Mannheim 68161, Germany.
Shareholders will also receive an abridged report on the 2003

financial year via their depositary banks, together with an
invitation and the agenda. For the first time, shareholders can
authorize voting proxies and issue voting instructions conve-
niently and quickly via the Internet. The payment of dividends
approved by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting will be made
from June 10, 2004 onwards.

Disclaimer 

This annual report contains statements about future develop-
ment that are based on assumptions and estimates by the man-
agement of FUCHS PETROLUB AG. Even if the management is of
the opinion that these assumptions and estimates are accurate,
future actual developments and future actual results may differ
significantly from these assumptions and estimates due to a
variety of factors. These factors can include changes to the over-
all economic climate, changes to exchange rates and interest
rates and changes in the lubricants industry. FUCHS PETROLUB

AG provides no guarantee that future developments and the
results actually achieved in the future will agree with the
assumptions and estimates set out in this annual report and
assumes no liability for such.

April 23, 2004

June 9, 2004

June 14, 2004

August 17, 2004

September 14/15, 2004

September 16, 2004

May 14, 2004

August 17, 2004

November 15, 2004
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